FLSEVIER



Progress in Neurobiology



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/pneurobio

Energy metabolism in adult neural stem cell fate

Victoria A. Rafalski^{a,b}, Anne Brunet^{a,*}

^a Department of Genetics, Stanford University, Stanford, CA 94305, United States ^b Neurosciences Program, Stanford University, Stanford, CA 94305, United States

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 22 July 2010 Received in revised form 20 October 2010 Accepted 28 October 2010 Available online 5 November 2010

Keywords: Neural stem cell (NSC) Neurogenesis Energy metabolism Redox Reactive oxidative species Dietary restriction Hypoxia Aging Insulin/IGF-1 Phosphatase and tensin homolog (PTEN) FoxO Mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK) Sirtuin Sirt1 Hypoxia-inducible factors (HIFs)

Contents

ABSTRACT

The adult mammalian brain contains a population of neural stem cells that can give rise to neurons, astrocytes, and oligodendrocytes and are thought to be involved in certain forms of memory, behavior, and brain injury repair. Neural stem cell properties, such as self-renewal and multipotency, are modulated by both cell-intrinsic and cell-extrinsic factors. Emerging evidence suggests that energy metabolism is an important regulator of neural stem cell function. Molecules and signaling pathways that sense and influence energy metabolism, including insulin/insulin-like growth factor 1 (IGF-1)-FoxO and insulin/IGF-1-mTOR signaling, AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK), SIRT1, and hypoxia-inducible factors, are now implicated in neural stem cell biology. Furthermore, these signaling modules are likely to cooperate with other pathways involved in stem cell maintenance and differentiation. This review summarizes the current understanding of how cellular and systemic energy metabolism regulate neural stem cell fate. The known consequences of dietary restriction, exercise, aging, and pathologies with deregulated energy metabolism for neural stem cells and their differentiated progeny will also be discussed. A better understanding of how neural stem cells are influenced by changes in energy availability will help unravel the complex nature of neural stem cell biology in both the normal and diseased state.

© 2010 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

1.	Introduction				
2.	Adult	em cell properties	183		
	2.1.	Adult ne	ural stem cells	183	
	2.2.	Functior	al importance of neural stem cells in the adult mammalian brain	183	
	2.3.	Energy 1	netabolism differences between neural stem cells and differentiated neural cells	184	
3.	Energy-sensing molecular mechanisms in neural stem cell fate				
	3.1.	The insulin/IGF-1 signaling pathway		185	
		3.1.1.	Overview of insulin/IGF-1 signaling	185	
		3.1.2.	Insulin/IGF-1 function in neural stem cells	185	
		3.1.3.	PI3K/Akt/PTEN in neural stem cells	186	

Corresponding author at: Alway M336, 300 Pasteur Drive, Stanford, CA 94305, United States. Tel.: +1 650 725 8042.

E-mail address: anne.brunet@stanford.edu (A. Brunet).

Abbreviations: ACC, adenylate cyclase complex; AICAR, aminoimidazole carboxamide ribonucleotide; AMPK, AMP-activated protein kinase; Aspm, abnormal spindle-like microcephaly-associated; BDNF, brain-derived neurotrophic factor; bFGF, basic fibroblast growth factor; bHLH, basic helix-loop-helix; BMP, bone morphogenetic protein; DG, dentate gyrus; DR, dietary restriction; FoxO, Forkhead box O; HDAC, histone deacetylase; HIF, hypoxia-inducible factor; HSC, hematopoietic stem cell; IGF-1, insulin-like growth factor 1; MAPK, mitogen-activated protein kinase; mTOR, mammalian target of rapamycin; mTORC1, mTOR complex 1; mTORC2, mTOR complex 2; NAD+, nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide; N-CoR, nuclear receptor co-repressor; NSC, neural stem cell; OB, olfactory bulb; OPC, oligodendrocyte progenitor cell; PI3K, phosphatiog 3-kinase; PIP₃, phosphatidylinositol (3,4,5)-triphosphate; PTEN, phosphatase and tensin homolog; Rb, retinoblastoma protein; ROS, reactive oxidative species; SGZ, subgranular zone; Shh, Sonic hedgehog; Sirt, Sirtuin; SVZ, subventricular zone; UCP2, mitochondrial uncoupling protein 2; VEGF, vascular endothelial growth factor.

^{0301-0082/\$ –} see front matter @ 2010 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.pneurobio.2010.10.007

		3.1.4.	FoxO transcription factors in neural stem cells	186
		3.1.5.	mTOR in neural stem cells	187
		3.1.6.	Comparison of PTEN, FoxO, and mTOR actions in neural stem cells	187
		3.1.7.	The role of insulin/IGF-1 signaling in neural stem cells and in aging	188
	3.2.	AMPK		188
	3.3.	Sirtuins		189
		3.3.1.	The Sirtuin family of protein deacetylases	189
		3.3.2.	SIRT1 in neural stem cells	190
		3.3.3.	Potential roles for SIRT2–7 in neural stem cells	190
	3.4.	Oxygen	sensing and HIF signaling	191
		3.4.1.	Effects of low oxygen on neural stem cells	191
		3.4.2.	The HIF signaling pathway	191
		3.4.3.	HIF1 signaling as mediator of the effects of low oxygen on neural stem cells	191
		3.4.4.	Mechanisms of HIF1 action in neural stem cells	192
		3.4.5.	The hypoxia connection between neural stem cells and brain cancer stem cells	192
4.	Redox	state in	neural stem cell fate	192
5.	Neuro	trophic s	ignaling, cellular energy metabolism, and neural stem cell fate	193
5.	Effect	s of syste	mic energy metabolism on neural stem cell fate	194
	6.1.	Dietary	restriction	194
	6.2.	Exercise		195
7.	Effect	s of aging	; and pathologies with deregulated energy metabolism and oxygen homeostasis on adult neural stem cells	195
	7.1.	Aging		195
	7.2.	Diabetes	; as an example of disordered metabolism	196
	7.3.	Ischemie	stroke as an example of severe glucose-oxygen deprivation	196
8.	Concl	usions		197
	Refere	ences		197

1. Introduction

The past fifty years of exploration into adult mammalian neural stem cell (NSC) biology have greatly expanded our understanding of the basic characteristics of adult NSCs, the numerous environmental conditions and life stages that alter their properties, and the functional relevance of NSCs in the normal and diseased brain. An emerging concept is that adult NSCs are a dynamic population of cells able to sense and respond to changes in energy homeostasis occurring locally in the brain and systemically in the mammalian organism. In this review, we will first provide an overview of adult NSC properties and then describe the current understanding of how energy metabolism influences adult NSC function, with a particular focus on energy-sensing molecules and related signaling pathways that include the insulin/IGF-1-FoxO and insulin/IGF-1-mTOR signaling pathways, AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK), Sirtuins, and hypoxia-inducible factors (HIFs). We will also outline how fluctuations in global organismal energy state affect adult NSC function. Understanding the connection between energy and adult NSC fate should yield important discoveries relevant for brain health during normal aging and metabolic pathologies, including diabetes, obesity, stroke, and neurodegenerative disease.

2. Adult neural stem cell properties

2.1. Adult neural stem cells

The adult mammalian brain contains pools of NSCs, which can self-renew, *i.e.* produce at least one stem cell daughter upon division, and are multipotent, *i.e.* produce all three cell types of the brain: neurons, astrocytes, and oligodendrocytes (Fig. 1A). NSCs are thought to be relatively quiescent (Doetsch et al., 2002; Kippin et al., 2005; Morshead et al., 1994), entering the cell cycle to produce more rapidly dividing neural progenitors that undergo limited rounds of proliferation and are more committed to specific neural lineages (Bull and Bartlett, 2005). Neural progenitors ultimately yield differentiated progeny, such as new neurons (neurogenesis), that can then integrate into functional circuits in the adult brain.

The current view on the origin of adult NSCs is that they are the descendents of postnatal ventricular zone radial glial cells that are thought to arise from embryonic neuroepithelial cells (Merkle and Alvarez-Buylla, 2006; Merkle et al., 2004). There are far fewer NSCs in the adult brain compared to the developing brain, which likely explains why the brain was long assumed to be solely a post-mitotic tissue. The two principal populations of adult NSCs are located in the subventricular zone (SVZ) lining the lateral ventricles (Morshead et al., 1994) and in the subgranular zone (SGZ) of the dentate gyrus (DG) of the hippocampus (Altman and Das, 1965; Palmer et al., 1997) (Fig. 1B). While NSCs and neurogenesis have now been identified in other regions of the adult mammalian brain, the SVZ and DG are the two niches containing the densest collection of NSCs consistently able to give rise to new neurons (Gould, 2007; Gritti et al., 2002; Pagano et al., 2000). Importantly, humans also exhibit neurogenesis in the SVZ and DG in adulthood (Eriksson et al., 1998; Quinones-Hinojosa et al., 2006) and multipotent NSCs can be cultured from adult human SVZ and DG (Johansson et al., 1999; Kukekov et al., 1999)

SVZ neural progenitors give rise to neuronal precursors (neuroblasts), which migrate along the rostral migratory stream (Doetsch and Alvarez-Buylla, 1996; Lois et al., 1996) toward the olfactory bulb (OB) and differentiate into OB interneurons (Carlen et al., 2002; Lledo et al., 2008; Lois and Alvarez-Buylla, 1994; Luskin, 1993). In contrast, neuroblasts from the SGZ of the DG migrate a much shorter distance to integrate into the DG granule cell layer upon differentiation into neurons (Altman and Das, 1965; Palmer et al., 1997; van Praag et al., 2002). NSCs also have the capacity to produce astrocytes and oligodendrocytes both *in vitro* (Gritti et al., 1996; Palmer et al., 2007). New oligodendrocytes generated from SVZ NSCs can migrate to areas of dense axonal tracts, such as the corpus collosum and striatum, to generate new myelin for the adult brain (Gonzalez-Perez et al., 2009; Menn et al., 2006).

2.2. Functional importance of neural stem cells in the adult mammalian brain

Since the discovery of adult rat hippocampal neurogenesis by Altman and Das (1965) and the isolation of self-renewing and



Fig. 1. Adult neural stem cell (NSC) properties. (A) NSCs self-renew and are multipotent. They give rise to neural progenitor cells, which in turn produce differentiated cell types of the brain: neurons, astrocytes, and oligodendrocytes. (B) Adult NSCs are primarily localized in the subventricular zone (SVZ) lining the lateral ventricles and in the subgranular zone of the dentate gyrus (DG) in the hippocampus indicated on images of mouse brain coronal sections. The SVZ is located at a more anterior position than the DG. Function of SVZ and DG NSCs are described in the table. CC, corpus collosum; DG, dentate gyrus; Hpc, hippocampus; LV, lateral ventricle; Sep, septum; Str, striatum; SVZ, subventricular zone.

multipotent NSCs from the adult brain (Gritti et al., 1996; Palmer et al., 1997), questions regarding the functional relevance of neurogenesis and adult NSCs have abounded particularly because of the adult brain's lack of conspicuous regenerative capacity. Lossof-function experiments (e.g. irradiation and genetic ablation) have revealed causative relationships between NSC differentiation into neural progeny and specific brain tasks. The functions of NSCs depend on their location in the brain (SVZ or DG) (Fig. 1B). Specific forms of hippocampal memory formation require intact neurogenesis from adult NSCs in the DG (Clelland et al., 2009; Deng et al., 2009; Farioli-Vecchioli et al., 2008; Imayoshi et al., 2008; Kitamura et al., 2009; Saxe et al., 2006; Shors et al., 2002; C.L. Zhang et al., 2008). While multiple studies support a role for NSC-derived neurogenesis in the DG in memory formation, there are conflicting findings regarding which types of memory are affected. For example, ablation of neurogenesis from adult NSC by either lineage-specific expression of diptheria toxin A (DTA) (Imayoshi et al., 2008), adult neural progenitor-specific death by a thymidine kinase/gancliclovir strategy (Deng et al., 2009), or adult deletion of the Tlx gene that is required for NSC proliferation and maintenance (C.L. Zhang et al., 2008) impairs spatial learning whereas in studies using irradiation or an antimotitic compound to eliminate neurogenesis, spatial learning is not impacted (Saxe et al., 2006; Shors et al., 2002). The sources of these differences are not clear, but it is possible that discrepancies between independent findings are the result of the methods use to eliminate neurogenesis and/or NSCs as well as the type of behavioral paradigms employed. In contrast to DG neurogenesis, new olfactory bulb neurons generated from SVZ NSCs are thought to be important for odor discrimination and mating behavior (Breton-Provencher et al., 2009; Gheusi et al., 2000; Mak et al., 2007; Mouret et al., 2009) although one study found odor discrimination is not affected by eliminating adult neurogenesis (Imayoshi et al., 2008).

In addition to functioning in the healthy adult brain, NSCs are also thought to participate in brain repair following injury. Neurogenesis from adult NSCs can act as source of neuronal replacement in damaged cortical regions (Liu et al., 1998; Magavi et al., 2000) and when transplanted into the brain can lead to behavioral improvements in rodent models of neurodegenerative diseases (Chintawar et al., 2009; Vazey et al., 2006). Finally, impaired adult neurogenesis in the DG may contribute to depression or the inability to respond to antidepressants (Encinas et al., 2006; Santarelli et al., 2003) although conflicting findings suggest that further investigation of the significance of neurogenesis for mood regulation is needed (Holick et al., 2008; Zhao et al., 2008).

Much less is known about the role of new oligodendrocytes and astrocytes generated from adult NSCs. While oligodendrocyte production from adult NSCs occurs at relatively low basal levels (Gonzalez-Perez et al., 2009; Jessberger et al., 2008; Menn et al., 2006), their generation from SVZ NSCs is greatly increased following demyelinating injuries (Menn et al., 2006). The importance of astrocytes derived from adult NSCs has not been specifically assessed, but it is likely that like postnatally established parenchymal astrocytes, they contribute to brain function in many ways, including recycling neurotransmitters and metabolites, enabling structural support and blood-brain barrier maintenance, and promoting injured tissue repair (Wang and Bordey, 2008).

2.3. Energy metabolism differences between neural stem cells and differentiated neural cells

The dynamic population of NSCs has the ability to modify the architecture and function of the adult brain, which raises the important question of whether and how adult NSCs are affected by energy metabolism. An emerging idea in the stem cell field is that stem cells possess metabolic characteristics that differ from differentiated cells (Lonergan et al., 2006; McGraw and Mittal, 2010; Nesti et al., 2007; Noble et al., 2005). In the brain, unique features of neurons (e.g. electrical excitability and neurotransmission), oligodendrocytes (e.g. high lipid levels), and astrocytes (e.g. recycling of neurotransmitters and metabolites) also suggest that metabolic requirements of differentiated cells may drastically differ from that of self-renewing, multipotent NSCs. Indeed, gene expression analyses have revealed that from development through adulthood, the transition from a NSC/neural progenitor cell to a differentiated neuron, astrocyte, or oligodendrocyte is associated with numerous transcriptional changes, including at genes associated with metabolism and energy sensing (Bonnert et al., 2006; Geschwind et al., 2001; Gurok et al., 2004; Ivanova et al., 2002; Karsten et al., 2003; Ramalho-Santos et al., 2002). For example, embryonic NSCs cultured from mouse ventricular zone differentially upregulate multiple energy metabolism-associated genes, such as the Insulin-like growth factor binding protein 3 (Igfbp3), Enolase I, and Cytochrome c oxidase subunit VIIa 3, three genes which are specifically upregulated in NSCs when compared to hematopoietic and embryonic stem cells (Ivanova et al., 2002). Cultured postnatal NSCs also show significantly higher expression of numerous metabolic genes, such as Acetyl-coenzyme A synthetase 1, Enolase I, and Pyruvate dehydrogenase, compared to differentiating neural cells (Geschwind et al., 2001; Karsten et al., 2003) although other metabolic genes are upregulated during differentiation (e.g. Glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase) (Gurok et al., 2004). Finally, adult SVZ NSCs have greater expression of the metabolismassociated genes Hypoxia-inducible factor Hif1 α . Acetyl-coenzyme A transporter, and Igfbp3 compared to differentiated cells of the lateral ventricle (Bonnert et al., 2006; Ramalho-Santos et al., 2002). Thus, specific aspects of energy metabolism may distinguish NSCs from their differentiated counterparts. As these studies examined transcriptional profiles of cultured NSCs, a critical question that remains to be addressed is whether there are significant metabolic differences between quiescent NSCs and the cycling population of NSC/neural progenitor cells.

Given the distinctive expression of certain metabolismassociated genes in NSCs and the fact that providing sufficient amounts of energy to the brain is a central concern for the organism, tight control of energy-dependent processes are likely to exist in NSCs. With the goal of obtaining a greater understanding of factors that control the balance between NSC self-renewal and differentiation in the adult brain, this review attempts to bring together existing evidence that support the notion that adult NSC fate is regulated by cellular and organismal energy metabolism and to raise fundamental questions that still remain in this field. We will draw on studies of NSCs from the developing brain in order to extrapolate mechanisms that are potentially applicable to the adult population, though our particular interest is in understanding how cellular and systemic energy metabolism influence adult NSCs, a pool of cells susceptible to energy alterations over a lifespan.

3. Energy-sensing molecular mechanisms in neural stem cell fate

3.1. The insulin/IGF-1 signaling pathway

3.1.1. Overview of insulin/IGF-1 signaling

Central to the body's ability to coordinate energy intake and expenditure is the insulin/IGF-1 signaling pathway. In response to glucose or energy excess, insulin is released by the β cells of the pancreas and promotes glucose storage in liver and muscle tissues

and fat storage in adipose tissue. A related hormone, insulin-like growth factor-1 (IGF-1), is produced by the liver in response to growth hormone, whose production by the pituitary gland is regulated by many factors, including nutrition and exercise. Both insulin and IGF-1 have high affinities for their cognate tyrosine kinase receptors, but there is some low-affinity cross-reactivity (De Meyts and Whittaker, 2002). Insulin/IGF-1 binding leads to a cascade of intracellular events beginning with auto-phosphorylation of the receptor tyrosine kinase, followed by subsequent activation of signaling molecules and pathways, including the PI3K/Akt-mTOR, PI3K/Akt-FoxO, and Ras/MAPK pathways (Fig. 2). Despite their overlapping receptor binding affinities, insulin and IGF-1 can elicit different biological responses. Insulin is generally considered to regulate glucose metabolism while IGF-1 is thought to regulate growth and survival. How the functional differences between insulin and IGF-1 are molecularly determined is not completely understood, but it is thought that critical differences in the structures of insulin and IGF-1 as well as that of their respective receptors influence binding stability and affinity for specific downstream signaling substrates (Blakesley et al., 1996). In addition, the existence of IGF-1 binding proteins (IGFBPs) that regulate IGF-1 binding to its receptor and differences in tissue distribution of the insulin and IGF-1 receptors all contribute to establishing the distinct cellular roles of insulin and IGF-1 (Blakesley et al., 1996).

Insulin and IGF-1 receptors are widely expressed in the brain with relatively similar localizations and are expressed in adult NSCs (Aberg et al., 2003; Hsieh et al., 2004; Lesniak et al., 1988; Yu et al., 2008). Insulin enters the brain across the blood-brain barrier by a receptor-mediated transport system (Banks et al., 1997; Schwartz et al., 1991). Like insulin, IGF-I can cross the blood-brain barrier, though it is also produced in the postnatal and adult brain, particularly in regions that undergo cell divisions, such as the hippocampus, the SVZ, and the olfactory bulb (Bartlett et al., 1991; D'Ercole et al., 1996; Reinhardt and Bondy, 1994), raising the possibility that IGF-1 signaling plays an important role as a paracrine factor for NSC/progenitor proliferation.

3.1.2. Insulin/IGF-1 function in neural stem cells

Numerous studies have implicated insulin/IGF-1 signaling in NSC maintenance and function. In general, IGF-1 has a stronger mitogenic effect than insulin (Sasaoka et al., 1996) and this appears to be the case in NSCs as well. Transgenic mice overexpressing IGF-



Fig. 2. Components of the insulin/insulin-like growth factor I (IGF-1) signaling pathway implicated in NSC fate. (A) Insulin or IGF-1 bind to their respective tyrosine kinase receptors on the cell membrane. This leads to activation of Akt, which promotes mTOR activation and subsequent upregulation of protein translation. Akt directly phosphorylates FoxO transcription factors, causing them to be retained in the cytoplasm. PTEN is a lipid phosphatase that inhibits Akt activation. The Ras/MAPK pathway is also activated by insulin/IGF-1 receptor binding. (B) In the absence of insulin/IGF-1 signaling, reduced Akt activity minimizes mTOR activation. FoxO factors are uphosphorylated and translocate to the nucleus to regulate transcription of target genes, such as the cell cycle inhibitors *p27^{Kip1}* and *p21^{Cip1}* and *Abnormal spindle-like microcephaly-associated* (*Aspm*), which is involved in brain size determination. Shapes in grey indicate proteins in their inactive state. Proteins implicated in NSC biology are in bold.

1 display a large increase in brain growth (Carson et al., 1993; Mathews et al., 1988; Ye et al., 1995), consistent with the possibility that IGF-1 promotes the expansion of embryonic NSCs. Indeed, IGF-1 stimulates embryonic NSC proliferation in vitro (Arsenijevic et al., 2001). In vivo infusion of IGF-1 in the adult rat hippocampus stimulates NSC proliferation and subsequent differentiation into granule cell layer neurons (Aberg et al., 2000). Similarly, in vitro culturing of adult hippocampal NSCs with IGF-1 stimulates NSC proliferation and also acts as an instructive signal for neurogenesis when basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF) is removed to stimulate differentiation (Aberg et al., 2003). Interestingly, IGF-1 also enhances the production of oligodendrocytes both during development (Carson et al., 1993; Mathews et al., 1988; Ye et al., 1995) and from differentiating adult hippocampal NSCs (Hsieh et al., 2004). The ability of IGF-1 to stimulate NSC proliferation as well as differentiation into both neurons and oligodendrocytes may seem paradoxical. However, its enhancement of proliferation depends on the presence of NSC growth factors (e.g. EGF and/or bFGF), which share downstream signaling components, such as Ras/MAPK or PI3K/Akt, with IGF-1 (Aberg et al., 2003; Peltier et al., 2007). The different lineage specification effects of IGF-1 are likely to depend on both its concentration and other signals from the surrounding environmental niche.

Is there a role for insulin in adult NSC fate? Insulin has unique actions in the brain compared to liver and muscle, which store considerable amounts of glucose in the form of glycogen in response to insulin. While a main function of insulin in the brain is to regulate organismal energy homeostasis by acting in hypothalamic feeding centers (Gerozissis, 2003), insulin does influence glucose balance in certain neural cell types. Astrocytes, but not neurons, increase glucose uptake when stimulated by insulin (Heidenrich et al., 1989; Zhu et al., 1990). While it has not been tested whether NSCs display increased glucose uptake in response to insulin, standard media formulations used to culture mouse, rodent, and human NSCs in vitro contain insulin, suggesting it is required for survival. Interestingly, insulin withdrawal from adult hippocampal NSC cultures leads to autophagic cell death, a cellular response often deployed under conditions of low energy availability (Yu et al., 2008). High concentrations of insulin induce neuronal differentiation of postnatal NSCs (Han et al., 2008) and culturing embryonic NSCs with both insulin and IGF-1 leads to a greater production of neurons during differentiation compared to cultures stimulated by IGF-1 alone (Arsenijevic and Weiss, 1998), demonstrating that insulin has the ability to induce neurogenesis. The results of these in vitro studies should be interpreted with caution as they may depend on culturing parameters, such as growth factor concentrations, oxygen availability, and cell-cell interactions, that do not necessarily reflect the in vivo NSC niche. The role of insulin in adult NSCs in vivo remains to be explored.

3.1.3. PI3K/Akt/PTEN in neural stem cells

Multiple signaling pathways downstream of insulin/IGF-1 receptor binding have been implicated in adult NSC function (Fig. 2). The PI3K/Akt pathway appears to be central to IGF-1 signaling in adult NSCs as IGF-1 stimulation of cultured NSCs drastically induces the phosphorylation, and thus, activation, of Akt (Kalluri et al., 2007). Furthermore, chemical inhibition of PI3K by the LY294002, but not inhibition of the MAPK pathway by U0126, is sufficient to eliminate the pro-proliferative effects of IGF-1 on adult NSC cultures, suggesting PI3K/Akt is a main mediator of IGF-1 action in adult NSCs. NSCs retrovirally induced to over-express Akt display enhanced proliferation and reduced capacity to differentiate (Peltier et al., 2007). Importantly, Akt activation is also induced in adult NSCs by binding of other growth factors and signaling ligands, such as bFGF and Sonic hedgehog (Shh) (Peltier

et al., 2007), which underscores the idea that cross-talk between signaling pathways is likely to play a significant role in determining adult NSC fate.

The activity of the Akt branch of insulin/IGF-1 signaling can be attenuated by the PTEN lipid/protein phosphatase, which dephosphorylates phosphatidylinositol (3,4,5)-triphosphate (PIP₃) to generate PI(4,5)P₂. This reduction in PIP₃ limits the amount of Akt binding at the cellular membrane, which ultimately inhibits Akt activation. Mice with brain-specific deletion of the *Pten* gene exhibit enlargened brains during embryonic stages due to an increase in embryonic neural stem cell number and cell size (Groszer et al., 2001). This increase in embryonic neural stem cell numbers is a result of reduced cell death and increased cellular proliferation because of greater entry of NSCs into the G₁ phase from the G_0 phase of the cell cycle (Groszer et al., 2006). Pten deletion also enhances the self-renewal of embryonic and early postnatal NSCs in culture without affecting the differentiation potential of these cells (Groszer et al., 2001). Furthermore, Pten haploinsufficient SVZ NSCs from early postnatal mice proliferate more than wild-type NSCs in vitro, have greater migratory abilities in vitro and in vivo, and are less susceptible to oxidative stressmediated apoptosis in vitro (Li et al., 2002). Thus, in the developing brain, PTEN normally functions to limit the proliferation of NSCs, perhaps to prevent tumor formation and disorderly brain development during stages of major growth. Similarly, in the adult mouse, specific deletion of Pten in SVZ NSCs increases the population of self-renewing NSCs and proliferating neural progenitors that can give rise to functional neuronal precursors (Gregorian et al., 2009). In fact, Pten deletion results in an increased olfactory bulb mass due to higher levels of neurogenesis in this region and also leads to enhanced habituation to novel odors. This observation indicates that PTEN loss removes the brake on SVZ NSC expansion without comprising the normal biological function of the newborn olfactory bulb neurons. Importantly, even though PTEN is a major tumor suppressor in humans, no tumors were observed in Pten null mice up to 2 years of age (Gregorian et al., 2009). It has not been determined whether the loss of PTEN in NSCs instead leads to a premature exhaustion of the NSC population at later ages, a phenomenon which has been observed in other mouse mutants that show enhanced neural progenitor proliferation (e.g. p21 null mice, FoxO null mice) (Kippin et al., 2005; Paik et al., 2009; Renault et al., 2009). As PTEN is a negative regulator of Akt signaling, it follows that phenotypes of *Pten* null NSCs are relatively similar to effects observed in adult NSCs when stimulated by IGF-1 or retrovirally-induced to overexpress Akt (Peltier et al., 2007).

3.1.4. FoxO transcription factors in neural stem cells

The FoxO family of transcription factors is negatively regulated by the PI3K/Akt branch of the insulin/IGF-1 pathway. There are four FoxO family members in mammals: FoxO1, FoxO3, FoxO4, and FoxO6. Phosphorylation of FoxO1, FoxO3, and FoxO4 by Akt leads to their retention in the cytoplasm, thereby inhibiting their transcriptional activities (Biggs et al., 1999; Brunet et al., 1999; Kops et al., 1999) (Fig. 2). In contrast, FoxO6 phosphorylation by Akt does not affect its subcellular localization, but still inhibits FoxO6 transcriptional activity (van der Heide et al., 2005). FoxO factors are important in many tissues and cell types for the survival and defense response to cellular stress, such as low energy availability and increased oxidative stress levels (Greer and Brunet, 2005). Deletion of FoxO3 or simultaneous deletion of FoxO1, FoxO3, and FoxO4 in the mouse brain has been shown to increase brain size (Paik et al., 2009; Renault et al., 2009). Adult NSCs lacking FoxO1, FoxO3, and FoxO4 show an increased rate of cell cycle entry along with reduced self-renewal and multipotency (Paik et al., 2009). Over prolonged in vitro passaging, the triple FoxO knock-out mice undergo apoptosis to a greater degree than wild-type NSCs. *In vivo*, triple FoxO knock-out mice exhibit reduced numbers of dividing NSCs and neuroblasts after 3 months of age with no difference at 8 weeks of age. Interestingly, specific deletion of FoxO3 in either the whole animal or specifically in the brain is sufficient to reduce the self-renewal capacity and multipotency of adult NSCs (from 3 month and older mice), but not of postnatal NSCs, *in vitro* and *in vivo* (Renault et al., 2009). *FoxO3* null NSCs also exhibit enhanced entry into the cell cycle, suggesting that FoxO3 may act normally to maintain the relative quiescence of NSCs and prevent their premature exhaustion (Renault et al., 2009). Taken together, these results argue that loss of FoxO factors ultimately leads to a depletion of self-renewing NSCs in the older adult mouse due to premature differentiation toward a rapidly proliferating neural progenitor population.

Gene expression analyses comparing NSCs with and without FoxO expression have illuminated the multiple intracellular processes regulated by this family of transcription factors that regulate NSC function. Established FoxO-regulated genes, such as Cyclin D1 and Inhibitor of DNA-binding proteins Id1 and Id2, as well as novel FoxO targets, including cell cycle genes Abnormal spindlelike microcephaly-associated (Aspm) and Cdk inhibitor 1C, and oligodendrocyte lineage genes Myelin basic protein (Mbp) and Proteolipid protein 1 (Plp1), were identified by Paik et al. (2009) through microarray analysis of triple FoxO knock-out and control embryonic NSCs. Of note is the finding that transcription of the mouse homolog of ASPM, a determinant of human cerebral cortex size (Bond et al., 2002), is directly inhibited by FoxO1 and 3, limiting excessive neural progenitor proliferative expansion during development and repressing early exhaustion of the adult NSC pool. Interestingly, the FoxO-dependent transcriptome displays minimal overlap with FoxO-dependent transcriptomes obtained from other cell types, such as hematopoietic stem cells or endothelial cells, indicating the cell-type specific action of FoxO factors (Paik et al., 2007, 2009; Tothova et al., 2007).

Examination of gene expression differences between adult NSCs specifically lacking FoxO3 and wild-type NSCs emphasizes a role for this family member in promoting cellular quiescence, oxidative stress resistance, and inhibition of premature oligodendrocyte differentiation (Renault et al., 2009). Oligodendrocyte lineage-associated genes that were found to have increased expression in triple FoxO knock-out NSCs (Mbp and Plp1) (Paik et al., 2009) were also determined to be upregulated in FoxO3 null NSCs (Renault et al., 2009), suggesting that FoxO3 may the primary FoxO family member responsible for modulating the oligodendrocyte gene expression program in NSCs. The analysis of genes regulated by FoxO3 in NSCs also revealed a novel function for FoxO3 in the transcriptional regulation of genes involved in the cellular response to hypoxia (low oxygen). For example, genes known to be upregulated in hypoxic brain and other tissues, such as DNA-damage-inducible transcript 4 protein (Ddit4), N-myc downstream regulated 1 (Ndrg1). Endoplasmic oxioreduction-1-like protein (Ero1l), and Vascular endothelial growth factor a (Vegfa), were downregulated in FoxO3 null NSCs (Renault et al., 2009). Consistent with these observations, FoxO3 null NSCs had a defect in neurosphere-forming ability, particularly under low oxygen (2%) culture conditions (see Section 3.4) (Renault et al., 2009). Taken together, the FoxO family of transcription factors appears to be necessary for both promoting quiescence of self-renewing, multipotent NSCs, as well as orchestrating a cellular response to conditions that threaten the integrity of the stem cell compartment.

3.1.5. mTOR in neural stem cells

The protein mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) is positively regulated by insulin/IGF-1 signaling and has been shown to mediate some of the cellular actions of the PI3K/Akt

pathway (Hay and Sonenberg, 2004; Scott et al., 1998). However, there is relatively little known yet about the specific actions of mTOR in NSCs. In embryonic rat NSCs, insulin elicits Akt activation and the consecutive phosphorylation and activation of mTOR (Han et al., 2008). This increase in mTOR activity correlates with a dose-dependent increase in the number of new neurons generated during differentiation in response to insulin stimulation. Rapamycin, an inhibitor of one of the mTORcontaining complexes (mTORC1), reverses this insulin-dependent enhancement of neurogenesis, suggesting that mTORC1 is the main mediator of the neurogenic effect of insulin. How mechanistically mTOR influences neurogenesis is not yet clear, though it may be acting through one of its established targets, like the serine/threonine kinase p70S6K, which phosphorylates the S6 ribosomal protein, or the eukaryotic translation initiation factor 4E-BP, to promote protein translation (Gingras et al., 2001; Hay and Sonenberg, 2004). It is also possible that mTOR acts as a mediator of cross-talk between insulin/IGF-1 signaling and other pathways in adult NSCs. In embryonic NSCs, Notch pathway activation increases phosphorylation of mTOR (Androutsellis-Theotokis et al., 2006). Inhibition of mTOR by rapamycin is sufficient to eliminate the Notch-dependent increase in embryonic NSC survival (Androutsellis-Theotokis et al., 2006). It also remains to be determined whether the mTOR pathway functions in NSCs in vivo and in adult NSCs, but there is some evidence to suggest that mTOR activity extends to these scenarios. In vitro exposure of adult NSCs to CD95, classically considered an apoptosis-promoting factor, leads to activation of mTOR though the PI3K/Akt pathway and an increase in global levels of translation, increased survival, and enhanced neuronal differentiation of NSCs (Corsini et al., 2009). Furthermore, overexpression of CD95L, the ligand of the CD95 receptor, by in vivo lentiviral infection of NSCs in the SVZ of adult mice increases the number of neuroblasts in this region, supporting the idea that activation of mTOR in adult SVZ NSCs may be important for promoting neuronal differentiation in vivo.

3.1.6. Comparison of PTEN, FoxO, and mTOR actions in neural stem cells

As several signaling components downstream of insulin/IGF receptors have been shown to function in NSC biology (PTEN, FoxOs, mTOR), it is worthwhile to compare and contrast the different phenotypes in the various loss-of-function experiments. By inactivating Akt, Pten leads to the activation of FoxO transcription factors. Indeed, Pten heterozygote NSCs display increased levels of FoxO phosphorylation (Li et al., 2002). Thus, one would expect that Pten loss should induce all of the phenotypes of FoxO deletion in adult NSCs. Both mouse knock-outs exhibit larger brains due to increased cell numbers, yet PTEN, but not FoxO factors, also regulates cell size (Groszer et al., 2001; Paik et al., 2009). Both FoxO factors and PTEN promote quiescence of NSCs. However, Pten loss does not appear to compromise long-term NSC self-renewal, whereas loss of FoxO factors induces a transition from NSC to a progenitor population, eventually leading to a depletion of adult NSCs. Considering the fact that hematopoietic cells (HSCs) lacking Pten ultimately display impaired self-renewal due to short-term population expansion (Zhang et al., 2006), it is possible that if examined at older ages, Pten null mice would also exhibit a depleted NSC pool. Interestingly, Pten null NSCs also retain their ability to make normal olfactory bulb neurons, suggesting the differentiation ability of NSCs is not significantly affected. These important differences may be due to compensation of PTEN loss by downstream factors that would enable NSCs to maintain their self-renewal and multipotency in the absence of PTEN. In contrast, deletion of FoxO factors may lead to more serious alterations of NSC function as possibilities for compensation may be more limited with the loss of critical transcriptional regulators.

An outstanding question is whether the FoxO family of transcription factors or mTOR is the primary mediator of insulin/IGF-1 signaling action in adult NSCs, especially given the lack of perfect overlap between FoxO null and Pten null NSC phenotypes. The relatively limited experimental evidence testing the importance of mTOR in adult NSCs makes this distinction currently difficult. The main known functions of mTOR are to regulate protein synthesis, nutrient metabolism, cell growth, and cell cycle progression (Sarbassov et al., 2005a), all of which are key cellular processes for NSCs. FoxO factors are also regulators of the cell cycle and can influence many other critical cellular events, including DNA damage repair, apoptosis, and the hypoxia response. Thus, it is likely that both FoxO factors and mTOR have overlapping as well as unique functions in adult NSCs. Of note is that mTOR, in complex with rictor (mTORC2), has been shown to activate Akt in human cancer cells (Sarbassov et al., 2005b), a feedback loop that could negatively regulate FoxO activity. Further examination of mTOR function downstream of IGF-1 signaling and in the context of FoxO activity would create a more complete picture of how the energy-sensing insulin/IGF-1 signaling pathway regulates the fate of adult NSCs.

3.1.7. The role of insulin/IGF-1 signaling in neural stem cells and in aging

Given the overall positive effect of insulin/IGF-1 signaling on NSC proliferation and neuronal and oligodendrocytic lineage specification, it is interesting to consider that low insulin/IGF-1 signaling levels can extend lifespan and promote a greater healthspan in multiple model organisms (Bluher et al., 2003; Clancy et al., 2001; Friedman and Johnson, 1988; Holzenberger et al., 2003; Kenyon et al., 1993; Tatar et al., 2001). Interestingly, reducing IGF-1 receptor levels has recently been shown to improve cognition in a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease (E. Cohen et al., 2009). Taken together with the pro-proliferative effects of insulin/IGF-1 signaling on NSCs, these observations would suggest that relatively low levels of insulin/IGF-1 signaling, which are beneficial for lifespan and brain health, would paradoxically negatively impact the important NSC population and adult neurogenesis. This apparent contradiction between the multiple consequences of insulin/IGF-1 signaling may be resolved by the concept that the proliferation dynamics of adult NSCs must be a balance between relative quiescence and cell cycling in order to both preserve the NSC pool over a lifespan as well as contribute new neural cells to the brain. This concept has been supported by studies of *FoxO* null and *p21* null mice, in which the excessive release of relatively quiescent adult NSCs into the cell cycle leads to the exhaustion of the pool of NSCs later in life (Kippin et al., 2005; Paik et al., 2009; Renault et al., 2009). Thus, both overabundant or insufficient production of new progeny from NSCs may be detrimental to adult brain function. It is likely that the net value of high insulin/IGF-1 signaling in adult NSCs for the brain is when it occurs only sporadically, in local niches, or in unique situations when new neural cells are critically needed (*i.e.* brain injury, neurodegenerative disease).

3.2. AMPK

AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK) is a central energy sensor and regulator of metabolic processes. It is activated by stimuli that elicit a high cellular [AMP] to [ATP] ratio, including dietary restriction, exercise, ischemia, and hypoxia (Kahn et al., 2005) (Fig. 3A). AMPK is a heterotrimeric protein that consists of three subunits (α , β , γ), each with multiple isoforms. The γ subunit contains AMP-binding domains that sense changes in the [AMP] to [ATP] ratio (Hawley et al., 1996). The α subunit contains the catalytic domain that becomes exposed when AMP binds the γ subunit (Crute et al., 1998). The β subunit stabilizes the interaction between all three subunits. Conditions of low energy (high [AMP]:[ATP]) increase the likelihood of AMPK phosphorylation by upstream kinases, such as LKB1, calcium/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase kinase beta (CaMKKB), and TGF-B-activated kinase-1 (Tak1) (Hawley et al., 2003, 2005; Hurley et al., 2005; Lizcano et al., 2004; Momcilovic et al., 2006; Shaw et al., 2004; Woods et al., 2005). AMP binding also prevents dephosphorylation of AMPK, further ensuring the sustained activity of AMPK under low energy availability (Sanders et al., 2007). Since the AMPKactivating kinase CAMKK β is itself activated by an increase in intracellular calcium, AMPK integrates both energy levels and calcium signaling. The dependency of AMPK activation on relative cellular levels of AMP and ATP has earned it the appropriate title of cellular "fuel gauge" (Kahn et al., 2005).

Upon activation, AMPK acts in a variety of tissues to restore cellular ATP levels (Kahn et al., 2005). Some of the known



Fig. 3. The energy-sensing enzymes AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK) and Sirt1. (A) In low energy conditions, the ratio of [AMP] to [ATP] and the ratio of [NAD+] to [NADH] increase. AMPK is activated by a high [AMP] to [ATP] ratio and Sirt1 is activated by a high [NAD+] to [NADH] ratio. Activated AMPK phosphorylates substrates and promotes synthesis of NAD+, which contributes to Sirt1 activation. Sirt1 deacetylates substrates that include histones and transcription factors. (B) Sirt1 function in NSC differentiation is modulated by oxidative state. Under differentiating conditions, Sirt1 interacts with N-CoR at the Hes1 promoter to inhibit Hes1 expression, which promotes neuronal differentiation. Under oxidative, differentiating conditions, Sirt1 binds to Hes1 at the Mash1/Ascl1 promoter to repress Mash1/Ascl1 expression, which promotes differentiation of astrocytes at the expense of neuronal differentiation.

substrates of AMPK include acetyl-coA carboxylase 1 (ACC1), CREB regulated transcription coactivator 2 (CRTC2), tuberous sclerosis 2 protein (TSC2), and glycogen synthase, (Carling and Hardie, 1989; Davies et al., 1992; Inoki et al., 2003; Koo et al., 2005). AMPK-mediated phosphorylation of these and other AMPK substrates can positively or negatively regulate target activity, resulting in enhanced cellular intake of glucose and increased fatty acid oxidation. AMPK also functions to reduce the energy-consuming synthesis of lipids, proteins, and glycogen and to limit gluconeogenesis. Thus, because of the multitude of cellular and systemic effects that it orchestrates in response to a high [AMP] to [ATP] ratio, AMPK is considered to be a master regulator of energy homeostasis and its actions are relevant for organismal development, longevity, and disease treatments (Greer et al., 2007a; Hardie, 2008; Steinberg and Kemp, 2009; Zhou et al., 2001).

While the majority of the cellular functions ascribed to AMPK are related to controlling glucose and fat metabolism, there is an increasing interest in understanding the role of AMPK in NSC selfrenewal and multipotency. The brains of 2-week-old AMPK $\beta 1^{-/-}$ mice are half the size of wild-type brains and exhibit significant cerebellar atrophy, reduction in cerebral cortex volume, and loss of the dentate gyrus (Dasgupta and Milbrandt, 2009), suggesting that abrogation of AMPK activity affects NSCs of the developing brain. Indeed, the embryonic NSCs of these AMPK $\beta 1^{-/-}$ mice have reduced proliferative capacity in the ventricular zone. Once the progeny of embryonic AMPK subunit $\beta 1^{-/-}$ NSCs migrate out of the ventricular zone, they undergo increased apoptosis compared to wild-type NSCs. The proliferation and apoptosis phenotypes of AMPK $\beta 1^{-/-}$ NSCs appears to be largely cell-autonomous as reintroduction of the B1 subunit into NSCs is sufficient to nearly completely restore levels of proliferation and apoptosis back to those of wild-type NSCs (Dasgupta and Milbrandt, 2009). Interestingly, the proliferation defects of AMPK $\beta 1^{-/-}$ NSCs appear to depend on the hypophosphorylated state of the cell cycle regulator retinoblastoma protein (Rb), which was found to be a direct substrate of AMPK although the phosphorylation site in Rb does not match the optimal AMPK consensus site (Gwinn et al., 2008). In AMPK $\beta 1^{-/-}$ NSCs, hypophosphorylated Rb leads to a defect in the G2-M transition of the cell cycle, a non-canonical role for Rb, which is well-established to regulate the G0-G1 transition in its phosphorylated state (Burkhart and Sage, 2008). Additional in vitro experiments from this study indicate that culturing cells in low glucose conditions increases the growth rate of embryonic wild-type NSCs in an AMPK B1-dependent manner, suggesting that low energy-sensing by AMPK promotes NSC cell proliferation (Dasgupta and Milbrandt, 2009). Promotion of NSC proliferation by AMPK is somewhat counterintuitive given that mitosis is an energy-consuming process. However, it is possible that AMPKmediated Rb phosphorylation under low energy conditions ensures that NSCs already in the cell cycle are able to pass through the G2-M checkpoint. This action of AMPK would allow NSCs to wait for energy levels to be restored at the G0-G1 checkpoint, a less precarious cellular state than the G2-M transition. In sum, results from this AMPK B1 knock-out mouse demonstrate that AMPK activity is essential for brain development, in part through the regulation of proliferation and survival of the progeny of embryonic NSCs.

Surprisingly, work by another group appears to demonstrate the opposite effect of AMPK on embryonic NSC proliferation and phosphorylation of Rb. Stimulation of embryonic NSCs by the AMPK activator AICAR leads to inhibition of proliferation (Zang et al., 2009), which contrasts with the phenotype of the AMPK $\beta 1^{-/}$ - NSCs (Dasgupta and Milbrandt, 2009). Furthermore, AICAR reduced levels of phospho-Rb, again in opposition to the results from AMPK $\beta 1^{-/-}$ NSCs and the finding that AMPK can directly phosphorylate Rb. Given that AICAR is not completely specific for AMPK and inhibition of AMPK by compound C was able to only partially rescue the effect of AICAR on cell cycle arrest, it is important to consider these results with caution. In addition, global deletion of the AMPK $\beta 1^{-/-}$ subunit may affect embryonic NSCs in ways that are non cell-autonomous. Clearly, deeper investigation into the dynamics of AMPK action in embryonic and adult NSCs is needed.

The full array of potential AMPK functions in NSCs has not been explored, but there is evidence from other neural cell types that suggests AMPK may also play a pro-survival role in NSCs under conditions of altered energy metabolism. Activation of AMPK protects against glucose deprivation or hypoxia-induced cell death of embryonic hippocampal neurons (Culmsee et al., 2001) and partially guards against oxidative stress-induced cell death of an immortalized cerebellar cell line (Park et al., 2009). It is possible that AMPK plays an analogous role in providing protection against oxidative stress in adult NSCs. Interestingly, AMPK regulates molecules that are implicated in NSC regulation (e.g. FoxO3, p53, mTOR, and SIRT1) (Canto et al., 2009; Cheng et al., 2004; Fulco et al., 2003; Greer et al., 2007b; Inoki et al., 2003; Jones et al., 2005). The effects of AMPK on these targets have been shown in cell types other than NSCs so it remains to be determined whether similar interactions have a relevant function in adult NSCs.

An intriguing question is whether AMPK also exerts effects on adult NSCs in a cell non-autonomous manner, that is, through its function in other tissues. Distinguishing between cell-autonomous and systemic effects of AMPK on adult NSCs would benefit from a system for specific AMPK deletion in the NSC population. The existence of multiple isoforms of each of three subunits of AMPK complicates the generation of mice and cells lacking any AMPK activity. However, it would be possible to abrogate AMPK activity in adult NSC by manipulating expression of one its upstream activating kinases LKB1, although LKB1 also targets other AMPKrelated kinases (Lizcano et al., 2004). The in vitro and in vivo use of AMPK-specific activators or inhibitors (Cool et al., 2006; Zhou et al., 2001) may also help reveal whether AMPK activity is necessary for adult NSC self-renewal and differentiation. Finally, it would be interesting to test whether dietary restriction and exercise, both of which increase AMPK activity, require AMPK to exert their effects on adult hippocampal NSC and newly generated neurons (Section 6) (Lee et al., 2000; van Praag, 2008; Winder and Hardie, 1996).

3.3. Sirtuins

3.3.1. The Sirtuin family of protein deacetylases

A key family of proteins involved in sensing fluctuating energy levels is the highly conserved protein deacetylases collectively known as Sirtuins. Sirtuins are homologous to the yeast Sir2 protein, which silences mating-type loci, telomeres, and ribosomal DNA (Aparicio et al., 1991; Gottlieb and Esposito, 1989; Rine and Herskowitz, 1987) and is most well-known for its ability to extend lifespan when overexpressed in yeast, worms, and flies (Kaeberlein et al., 1999; Rogina and Helfand, 2004; Tissenbaum and Guarente, 2001). The seven mammalian Sirtuins (SIRT1-7) are categorized as Class III histone deacetylases (HDAC) due to their unique dependence on the coenzyme nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NAD+) (Imai et al., 2000). Because NAD+ is reduced to NADH in glycolysis and the citric acid cycle, the ratio of [NAD+] to [NADH] is inversely proportional to energy availability. In addition, NADH can competitively inhibit the Sirtuin-catalyzed deacetylase reaction and its levels are reduced by dietary restriction (S.J. Lin et al., 2004). Sirtuins should have greater enzymatic activity under conditions of low energy (high [NAD+] to [NADH] ratio), and consequently, are poised to respond to changes in cellular energy status. Furthermore, dietary restriction, a well-known intervention that extends lifespan (Weindruch and Walford, 1988), leads to an increase of Sirtuin protein expression in variety of tissues. In the brain, SIRT1 and SIRT6 are upregulated in response to dietary restriction (Cohen et al., 2004; Kanfi et al., 2008). Conversely, a high fat and sucrose diet is accompanied by decreased SIRT1 expression in the hippocampus and cerebral cortex (Wu et al., 2006), demonstrating the dynamics of SIRT1 expression in response to energy consumption. Thus, regulation of Sirtuins can occur both at the level of their expression and their enzymatic activity.

The acetvlated substrates of Sirtuins include the lysine residues on histone and non-histone proteins. The deacetylation reaction produces the deacetylated protein, an end-product inhibitor nicotinamide, and 2'-O-acetyl-ADP-ribose (Tanner et al., 2000; Tanny and Moazed, 2001). By removing acetyl groups, Sirtuins modulate the biological activity of their substrates, leading to significant changes in gene expression and cellular status. For example, SIRT1 and SIRT6 can deacetylate specific lysine residues on histone tails (SIRT1: histone 1 lysine 26 (H1K26), H3K9, H3K14, H3K56, H4K16; SIRT6: H3K9, H3K56) to induce greater transcriptional silencing (Das et al., 2009; Imai et al., 2000; Kawahara et al., 2009; Michishita et al., 2008, 2009; Vaquero et al., 2004; Yang et al., 2009). SIRT1 also deacetylates many other targets, such as the transcription factors FoxO3 and p53, to promote or repress their activity (Brunet et al., 2004; Luo et al., 2001; Motta et al., 2004; Vaziri et al., 2001). An alternative reaction that can be catalyzed by select Sirtuins (SIRT1, SIRT4, SIRT6) is the transfer of ADP-ribosyl group from NAD+ to an acceptor protein although the significance of this reaction is only beginning to be understood (Du et al., 2009; Haigis et al., 2006; Liszt et al., 2005). Despite being relatively similar in sequence, the Sirtuins possess a remarkable variety of cellular roles and have disparate subcellular localizations.

3.3.2. SIRT1 in neural stem cells

To date, the only Sirtuin that has been directly implicated in NSC biology is SIRT1, which has the closest homology (45.9%) to the yeast Sir2 of all the mammalian Sirtuins (Imai et al., 2000). SIRT1 is primarily a nuclear protein although there are reports indicating it may also translocate to the cytoplasm (Hisahara et al., 2008; Jin et al., 2007; Michishita et al., 2005). In embryonic NSCs exposed to oxidative conditions in vitro, Sirt1 is transcriptionally upregulated (Prozorovski et al., 2008). It is required for the ability of oxidative stress to induce differentiating NSCs to adopt an astrocytic fate at the expense of the neuronal lineage (Prozorovski et al., 2008) (Fig. 3B). The mechanism of this neural fate switch under oxidative stress involves SIRT1 association with the bHLH transcriptional repressor and mediator of Notch signaling Hes1 at the promoter of Mash1/Ascl1, a bHLH transcriptional activator of neuronal differentiation. Conversely, in vivo knockdown of SIRT1 in embryonic brains treated with oxidizing agents results in increased Mash1/Ascl1 expression and neuronal differentiation. Thus, inhibition of Mash1/Ascl1 expression by the SIRT1-Hes1 complex is thought to repress neurogenesis under oxidative stress conditions in vitro and in vivo. The use of oxidizing agents to reveal the effect of SIRT1 on NSCs raises the question of the physiological relevance of this mechanism of NSC regulation by SIRT1. Oxidative stress is indeed present in a range of age-associated neuropathologies (Emerit et al., 2004), emphasizing the need to determine whether SIRT1 functions in the adult NSC population that could potentially contribute to brain repair. Excessive astrocyte production induced by oxidative stress may also have clinical significance as glial scars can inhibit neuroregeneration (Asher et al., 2000). Finally, given that SIRT1 can bind and regulate many regions in the genome of embryonic stem cells (Oberdoerffer et al., 2008), unbiased identification of all SIRT1 genomic binding sites in NSCs would help reveal a network of genes by which SIRT1 exerts its effects on NSC fate choice.

In striking contrast with the findings of Prozorovski et al., another group found that SIRT1 promotes neuronal differentiation of embryonic NSCs under basal, non-oxidative *in vitro* conditions through its interaction with the co-repressor N-CoR (Hisahara et al., 2008) (Fig. 3B). Furthermore, SIRT1 and N-CoR was shown to suppress expression at the Hes1 promoter, which may underlie the increase in neurogenesis. The opposing effects of SIRT1 on NSC lineage choice demonstrated by these independent studies raise the possibility that SIRT1 function in NSC differentiation depends heavily on the redox state of the cells, underscoring the significance of oxidative state on NSC fate (Fig. 3B and Section 3.4).

SIRT1 interacts with and/or deacetylates a broad array of proteins, several of which have critical roles in NSC biology. The FoxO1, FoxO3, and FoxO4 transcription factors are well-established SIRT1 targets (Greer and Brunet, 2005), and as described in Section 3.1.4, are important for regulating adult NSC homeostasis. Many studies have demonstrated SIRT1 modulation of FoxO transcriptional activity in the context of oxidative stress (Alcendor et al., 2007; Brunet et al., 2004; Frescas et al., 2005; Kitamura et al., 2005; Kobayashi et al., 2005; Motta et al., 2004; van der Horst et al., 2004; Yang et al., 2005), however, functional interaction between SIRT1 and FoxO factors in NSCs remains to be tested. There may also be a functional interaction between SIRT1 and p53, a transcription factor that limits the proliferation of NSCs and is a well-known substrate of SIRT1 (Luo et al., 2001; Meletis et al., 2006; Vaziri et al., 2001). Furthermore, SIRT1 has recently been shown to positively modulate the Wnt signaling pathway (Holloway et al., 2010). Wnt signaling promotes neural progenitor proliferation and neurogenesis in the adult SVZ and the dentate gvrus (Lie et al., 2005: Ou et al., 2010: Yu et al., 2006) and it is not unlikely that SIRT1's positive regulation of the Dishevelled proteins downstream of Wnt support this effect (Holloway et al., 2010). Finally, SIRT1 is itself regulated by Tlx and AMPK, both of which are implicated in NSC maintenance. The orphan nuclear receptor Tlx supports adult NSC proliferation by promoting HDAC-mediated repression at the p21 promoter (Shi et al., 2004; Sun et al., 2007). Tlx has recently been shown to upregulate Sirt1 expression in human cancer cells (Iwahara et al., 2009), raising the possibility that SIRT1 mediates some of Tlx's actions in adult NSCs under normal and/or oxidative conditions. AMPK activates SIRT1 indirectly by promoting synthesis of the coenzyme NAD+ (Canto et al., 2009; Fulco et al., 2003). In sum, evidence supports the idea that SIRT1 may act in multiple signaling networks to regulate NSC fate.

3.3.3. Potential roles for SIRT2-7 in neural stem cells

The roles of two other nuclear Sirtuins, SIRT6 and SIRT7, in adult NSCs are not yet established. Given their actions in other cell types, it is tempting to speculate on their potential function in NSCs. SIRT6 is crucial for genomic stability, acting as a H3K9 and H3K56 deacetylase at telomeric DNA regions (Michishita et al., 2008, 2009; Yang et al., 2009) in human fibroblasts. SIRT6 might also be necessary for the replicative lifespan of adult NSCs, which depend on telomere maintenance for proper proliferation and neuronal differentiation (Ferron et al., 2004).

SIRT7 associates with ribosomal DNA (rDNA) in the nucleolus and activates RNA polymerase I-mediated transcription in human and mouse cancer cell lines (Ford et al., 2006). It is possible that SIRT7 counterbalances the SIRT1-mediated repression of rDNA transcription (Murayama et al., 2008), allowing cells to quickly fine-tune levels of ribosome production under fluctuating energy conditions in NSCs.

SIRT2 is the only Sirtuin primarily localized to the cytoplasm (Afshar and Murnane, 1999; Michishita et al., 2005). In the brain, SIRT2 protein expression increases concomitantly with the developmental timing of myelination and SIRT2 expression

increases as postnatal oligodendrocyte precursor cells (OPCs) differentiate into oligodendrocytes *in vitro* (Li et al., 2007). By deacetylating the cytoskeletal component α -tubulin, SIRT2 inhibits the differentiation and maturation of oligodendrocytes, perhaps acting as an endogenous limit on oligodendrocyte production (Li et al., 2007). If SIRT2 acts similarly in the oligodendrocyte lineage derived from adult NSCs, there would be significant implications for human degenerative conditions affecting the oligodendrocyte population, such as multiple sclerosis and leukodystrophies. As SIRT2 can deacetylate FoxO1 and FoxO3 to regulate their transcriptional activities (Wang et al., 2007; Wang and Tong, 2009), it is also possible that under conditions of changing energy availability and/or oxidative stress, SIRT2 acts through FoxO factors to influence NSC homeostasis (Paik et al., 2009; Renault et al., 2009).

The mitochondrial Sirtuins (SIRT3, SIRT4, SIRT5) have also not been investigated specifically in the context of NSCs. They each possess unique activities in the mitochondria to regulate energy metabolism and evidence suggests that SIRT3 also influences cell survival during genotoxic and metabolic stress (Haigis et al., 2006; Hirschey et al., 2010; Kim et al., 2010; Lombard et al., 2007; Nakagawa et al., 2009; Scher et al., 2007). Questions that remain to be answered include whether energy excess or deprivation influences the stem cell properties of NSCs via changes in mitochondrial function and whether these effects are mediated by Sirt3, Sirt4, and/or Sirt5.

3.4. Oxygen sensing and HIF signaling

As oxygen is the final electron acceptor in the electron transport chain of aerobic respiration, ensuring sufficient oxygen availability is of vital importance for metabolic function. Like all cell types, NSCs are capable of sensing and responding to low oxygen concentrations in the local environment. Indeed, adult NSCs in both the SVZ and the DG are positioned in close proximity to blood vessels (within 10– 12 μ m for the SVZ) (Palmer et al., 2000; Shen et al., 2008; Tavazoie et al., 2008) indicating that factors communicated from the blood, including oxygen, are part of the niche that influences NSC biology. Importantly, excess oxygen, in the form of oxidative stress, can be as detrimental to NSCs as the absence of oxygen (Limoli et al., 2004a; H.J. Lin et al., 2004) (see Section 4). It is now becoming clear that intracellular oxygen-sensing mechanisms can actually regulate the self-renewal, proliferation, and differentiation of NSCs both *in vitro* and *in vivo* (Panchision, 2009; Zhu et al., 2005).

3.4.1. Effects of low oxygen on neural stem cells

The oxygen concentration in the adult brain is estimated to be around 2%, (range 0.1-5.3%) which is 10 times lower than the atmospheric O2 levels (20%) at which NSCs are traditionally cultured (Silver and Erecinska, 1998; Zhu et al., 2005). Numerous in vitro studies from a variety of NSC populations have indicated that lowering O₂ levels to physiological concentrations can dramatically impact NSC self-renewal and fate (Chen et al., 2007; Milosevic et al., 2005; Morrison et al., 2000; Pistollato et al., 2007; Renault et al., 2009; Santilli et al., 2010; Storch et al., 2001; Studer et al., 2000). Culturing rat embryonic NSCs at 3% O₂ leads to higher rates of proliferation and lower rates of cell death, resulting in a greater population expansion compared to cells grown at atmospheric O₂ levels (Studer et al., 2000). Upon differentiation, embryonic NSCs grown in lowered oxygen also give rise to a greater percentage of tyrosine hydroxylase-positive (TH+) dopaminergic neurons compared to control NSCs (Studer et al., 2000), suggesting that oxygensensing signaling can also modulate cell fate specificity of progenitor cells. Interestingly, in similar mouse studies, the effect of low oxygen to promote NSC proliferation and survival could only be observed when cultures were obtained from embryonic ventral midbrain but not forebrain, demonstrating a degree of region specificity of this effect (Milosevic et al., 2005). Furthermore, both embryonic mouse NSCs and immortalized human fetal NSCs grown at 2% or 5% O₂ generate greater numbers of colonies containing neurons, astrocytes, and oligodendrocytes when differentiated, indicating that the multipotency property of NSCs is preserved to a higher degree at low oxygen compared to atmospheric culture conditions (Chen et al., 2007; Santilli et al., 2010). Oxygen availability has also been demonstrated to have multiple levels of action as 20% O₂ reduces oligodendrocyte production by promoting both the premature differentiation of oligodendrocyte progenitor cells and the cell death of differentiated oligodendrocytes (Chen et al., 2007; Pistollato et al., 2007). Adult NSC proliferation also appears to be positively regulated by low-oxygen culturing (Renault et al., 2009), but an in-depth characterization of oxygen's effect on the adult NSC population is still needed.

These in vitro experiments illuminate a fascinating role for oxygen availability in NSC fate. The oxygen concentrations used in these studies (2-5%) are close to those in the normal brain, which raises questions regarding the response of NSCs in vivo to conditions when oxygen is lower than normal physiological levels (<1-2%). This latter scenario can be considered true "hypoxia" although the term "hypoxia" is also used to describe oxygen concentrations below atmospheric levels (20%). Do the principles obtained from NSC culture experiments hold when NSCs are exposed to true hypoxia in vivo? A complete lack of oxygen (anoxia), which occurs during transient ischemic stroke, can induce NSC proliferation and neurogenesis (Arvidsson et al., 2002; Jin et al., 2006; Macas et al., 2006; Marti-Fabregas et al., 2010; Nakatomi et al., 2002; Yagita et al., 2001) (see Section 7.3). This observation suggests that regulation of NSC via reduction of oxygen availability is a relevant process in vivo. Slight fluctuations in oxygen levels are likely to occur in the immediate NSC niche and may be a dynamic source of NSC regulation.

3.4.2. The HIF signaling pathway

The primary mechanism of low oxygen (hypoxia) sensing is mediated by hypoxia-inducible factors (HIFs). The HIF1 complex consists of a constitutively expressed HIF1β, also known as ARNT, and a post-translationally regulated HIF1 α subunit (Wang et al., 1995). HIF2 α and HIF3 α isoforms exist but are not as widely expressed as HIF1 α , which is notably abundantly expressed in embryonic neural precursors and more highly expressed in adult SVZ NSCs compared to differentiated cells (Jain et al., 1998; Panchision, 2009; Ramalho-Santos et al., 2002). Normally, HIF1a protein is present at low levels due to proteolytic degradation activities that require oxygen (Huang et al., 1998; Kallio et al., 1999; Salceda and Caro, 1997). In low oxygen environments, hydroxylation of two proline residues of HIF1 α protein is inhibited, preventing the recognition of HIF1 α protein by the proteasome (Bruick and McKnight, 2001; Jiang et al., 1996). Once stabilized, HIF1 α acts with HIF1 β as a dimeric transcription factor that binds to the hypoxia response element (HRE) and activates the transcription of many genes including Vegf, Erythropoietin, Enolase I, Glucose transporter 1, p21, and Igfbp1, 2, and 3 (Carmeliet et al., 1998; Ebert et al., 1995; Feldser et al., 1999; Forsythe et al., 1996; Semenza et al., 1994; Sharp and Bernaudin, 2004; Tazuke et al., 1998). This HIF1dependent transcriptional response leads to alterations in angiogenesis, glucose metabolism and cell cycle, which together enable the cell and tissue to adapt to a hypoxic environment (Sharp and Bernaudin, 2004).

3.4.3. HIF1 signaling as mediator of the effects of low oxygen on neural stem cells

HIF1 signaling is integral to normal NSC function during development. Mice with specific brain deletion of the $Hif1\alpha$ gene

exhibit hydrocephalus and have fewer neural cells, which is due, in part, to an increase in apoptosis (Tomita et al., 2003). As mature adults, brain-specific $Hif1\alpha$ knock-out mice have impaired spatial memory consolidation (Tomita et al., 2003). These results indicate that HIF1 α activity is likely to be an essential factor in embryonic NSCs for normal brain development and function. HIF1 signaling has also been shown to underlie the effects of low oxygen on cultured NSCs (Milosevic et al., 2005; Studer et al., 2000). Embryonic midbrain-derived NSCs lacking HIF1 α have reduced survival and proliferation at 3% O₂ culture conditions (Milosevic et al., 2007). Furthermore, loss of HIF1 α in embryonic NSCs decreases the production of TH+ dopaminergic neurons upon differentiation. Neurons generated from $Hif1\alpha^{-/-}$ embryonic NSCs also have reduced branching and morphological complexity compared to wild-type neurons. Interestingly, the reduced proliferation and production of TH+ neurons can be partially rescued by supplementing culture media with VEGF, the protein product of one HIF1 α target gene. These studies suggest that the oxygen-sensing HIF1 α factor and its downstream target gene effectors play a crucial role in embryonic NSCs and neurogenesis and may also have a substantial effect on the adult NSC population,

3.4.4. Mechanisms of HIF1 action in neural stem cells

though this is still unclear.

HIF1 α appears to regulate NSC properties through a variety of different molecules. The well-described HIF1 α target genes encode proteins that are important for coping with limited oxygen, such as Glucose transporter I and Enolase (regulation of glucose metabolism) and Vegf (vasculature biology). HIF1 α -dependent induction of Igfbp1, 2, and 3, whose protein products can alter the half-life and signaling potency of IGF-1, may also mediate the pro-proliferative effect of HIF1 α activation in low oxygen conditions. As described above, VEGF is partially responsible for the positive effect of low oxygen culturing on proliferation of embryonic NSCs (Milosevic et al., 2007). It is also possible that HIF1 α acts through the stem cell-promoting Notch signaling pathway. In primary embryonic rat NSCs, the canonical Notch signaling pathway is required for the beneficial effects of mild hypoxia $(1\% O_2)$ on NSC proliferation and self-renewal (Gustafsson et al., 2005). In fact, HIF1 α can bind to Notch-responsive promoters to promote transcription of Notch target genes in a C2C12 myoblast cell line (Gustafsson et al., 2005), an interaction that may also mediate the Notch-dependent effects of hypoxia on NSCs.

Importantly, there is some evidence that links the actions of HIF1 α with other energy-sensing signaling pathways known to regulate NSC biology. For example, adult NSCs lacking FoxO3 exhibit reduced expression of genes involved in the hypoxia response, including Ddit4, Ndrg1, Ero1l, and Vegfa (Renault et al., 2009). The positive effect of low oxygen (2% O2) culture conditions on neurosphere formation from wild-type NSC is not exhibited by Foxo3 null NSCs, further indicating a relationship between transcription factors important for NSC self-renewal and hypoxic signaling. In contrast, in other mammalian cell types, FoxO3 has been shown to indirectly inhibit HIF1 α -mediated gene transcription in response to hypoxia (Bakker et al., 2007; Emerling et al., 2008). It is possible that FoxO3 both indirectly inhibits HIF-mediated transcription and directly modulates hypoxia-dependent gene transcription (Renault et al., 2009). The energy-sensing deacetylase SIRT1 and the signaling molecule mTOR have also been demonstrated to promote HIF signaling (Arsham et al., 2003; Brugarolas et al., 2004; Dioum et al., 2009; Dunlop and Tee, 2009; Land and Tee, 2007; Lim et al., 2010), expanding the potential connections between energy and oxygen-sensing signaling in NSCs. Future studies aimed at understanding the molecular interactions between HIF signaling and other established NSC transcription factor signaling modules, such as Bmi1-p16^{Ink4a}, p53-p21, and Wnt, should help unravel how cell-intrinsic NSC fate modulators interact with oxygen availability in the niche to regulate NSC fate (Gustafsson et al., 2005; Kippin et al., 2005; Lie et al., 2005; Mazumdar et al., 2009; Meletis et al., 2006; Molofsky et al., 2003, 2005, 2006).

3.4.5. The hypoxia connection between neural stem cells and brain cancer stem cells

While still in its infancy, research into signaling pathways downstream of oxygen sensing in NSCs will likely provide a greater understanding of NSC biology in developing, aging, and diseased brain states. Brain cancer stem cells, which are thought to be the self-renewing source of new cancer cells within a brain tumor (Galli et al., 2004; Singh et al., 2003; Vescovi et al., 2006), are often referenced in connection with NSCs as both populations selfrenew, produce multiple differentiated neural cell types, and are known to localize near blood vessels. Indeed, there is some evidence to suggest that NSCs may be the source of some cancer stem cells (Jackson and Alvarez-Buylla, 2008; Jackson et al., 2006; Vescovi et al., 2006). Tumors are known to be a hypoxic environment (Ljungkvist et al., 2007). As in NSCs, HIF signaling seems to be critical for the maintenance of brain cancer stem cells when in hypoxic conditions (Heddleston et al., 2010; Jogi et al., 2002; Soeda et al., 2009). Interestingly, it has been proposed that brain cancer stem cells require a lower concentration of oxygen than NSCs to obtain the full pro-proliferative benefits of hypoxia (Panchision, 2009; Pistollato et al., 2009). Thus, distinguishing the similarities and differences in oxygen requirements and oxygensensing mechanisms and their downstream consequences between brain cancer stem cells and NSCs may illuminate vital biological properties of normal and malignant cell types.

4. Redox state in neural stem cell fate

Metabolic processes generate byproducts that have a significant impact on cellular function. In particular, oxidative phosphorylation in the mitochondria can produce reactive oxidative species (ROS) when oxygen is not fully reduced to H₂O. ROS are normally neutralized by antioxidants (e.g. ascorbic acid) and enzymes (e.g. Cu/Zn superoxide dismutase (SOD), Mn superoxide dismutase (SOD2) and catalase). However, under conditions of cellular stress, ROS can accumulate to high levels that lead to DNA damage and oxidation of lipids and proteins. High levels of ROS can eventually induce cell death through the activation of multiple signaling pathways, including the p53 pathway and NFkB signaling (Martindale and Holbrook, 2002; Vollgraf et al., 1999; Yin et al., 1998). Amplifying stem cell populations may have developed specific mechanisms to combat dangerous accumulation of free radicals that could potentially lead to the depletion of these important sources of regeneration, or, on the other hand, lead to the development of cancer through mutation accumulation. Indeed, NSCs cultured from early postnatal mice display a higher rate of mitochondrial activity, yet have lower ROS levels than differentiated neuronal and glial cells (Madhavan et al., 2006). The reduced ROS levels may be due to the higher expression of the mitochondrial uncoupling protein 2 (UCP2) and the antioxidant enzyme glutathione peroxidase in NSCs than in their differentiated counterparts both in vitro and in vivo (Madhavan et al., 2006). The expression of one of the main antioxidant enzymes, SOD1, has also been documented in NSCs of the postnatal SVZ, rostral migratory stream, and SGZ of the dentate gyrus (Faiz et al., 2006) and SOD2 expression is upregulated in embryonic NSCs during oxidative stress induced by a mitochondrial toxin (Madhavan et al., 2008), suggesting that NSCs critically depend on diverse antioxidant activities to preserve the balance of ROS. It would be informative to determine whether NSCs from adult mammals, and particularly

from older adults, have diminished antioxidant mechanisms and whether this is causally related to the significant reduction in NSC function with age (Kuhn et al., 1996; Molofsky et al., 2006).

Evidence from oligodendrocyte progenitor cells (OPCs), hematopoietic stem cells (HSCs), and NSCs indicates that ROS can also act as important regulators of the balance between stem cell selfrenewal/proliferation and differentiation (Lekli et al., 2009; Noble et al., 2005; Prozorovski et al., 2008; Smith et al., 2000; Tothova et al., 2007). In fact, fluctuations in oxidative state of only 10–15% can influence the fate of a progenitor cell (Noble et al., 2005; Smith et al., 2000). In cultured OPCs, a reducing intracellular environment confers a better cellular response to mitogens for cell proliferation and survival whereas an oxidizing environment increases the cellular response to signals for differentiation and apoptosis (Noble et al., 2005).

There are reasons to believe that similar redox regulation of selfrenewal and differentiation exists in NSCs. First, the growth factor bFGF used to culture NSCs reduces ROS levels in adult rat hippocampal NSCs grown at high density (Limoli et al., 2004b), suggesting that pathways that promote NSC self-renewal and proliferation may act, in part, through regulation of ROS, which in turn would help determine whether NSCs maintain their stem cell state or proceed to differentiation. Second, adult NSCs lacking FoxO1, FoxO3, and FoxO4 show reduced self-renewal capacity as well as increased levels of ROS (Paik et al., 2009). Because these FoxO1,3,4null NSCs have altered expression of ROS-detoxifying enzymes, such as peroxiredoxin, glutathione peroxidase 1, and sestrin3 (SESN3), one mechanism by which FoxOs may contribute to NSC self-renewal is by limiting accumulation of ROS. Indeed, impaired self-renewal of FoxO1.3.4-null NSCs can be nearly fully rescued by exposure to the antioxidant N-acetyl cysteine (NAC) or expression of SESN3 (Paik et al., 2007). Furthermore, in embryonic NSCs, the deacetylase SIRT1 is upregulated by oxidative conditions and is necessary for the ability of oxidizing agents to drive NSCs to become astrocytes instead of neurons upon differentiation (Prozorovski et al., 2008). Thus, in addition to influencing the balance between self-renewal and differentiation, ROS can also alter the specific cell lineage choice of differentiating NSCs. Whether or not FoxO factors and SIRT1 interact in the response to ROS has not yet been studied in NSCs, but this interaction has been documented in other cell types (Brunet et al., 2004; Motta et al., 2004; van der Horst et al., 2004). More work is needed to determine how exactly these fate choices are made in response to ROS, that is, to dissect out whether ROS-responsive mechanisms operate differently in astrocyte, neuron, and oligodendrocyte differentiation.

5. Neurotrophic signaling, cellular energy metabolism, and neural stem cell fate

How do energy metabolism and neurotrophic signaling, which is an important determinant of embryonic and postnatal NSC fate, intersect to regulate adult NSCs? While the extent of information currently available on this topic is relatively limited, there are several compelling arguments for its further investigation. First, exercise and dietary restriction influence adult NSC proliferation and survival of neuronal progeny, in part, through neurotrophin signaling (Lee et al., 2000, 2002a,b; Li et al., 2008) (see Sections 6.1 and 6.2). Second, the intracellular signaling pathways involved in energy-sensing and the neurotrophin response are largely overlapping. This section will describe the role of neurotrophins in NSC function and will present the evidence for crosstalk between neurotrophin signaling and energy metabolism for the regulation of NSC fate.

Neurotrophins are secreted proteins that regulate the growth, survival, and/or function of nerve cells. This group of proteins includes BDNF, nerve growth factor (NGF), neurotrophin 3 (NT-3),

and neurotrophin 4 (NT-4). Neurotrophins bind to neurotrophic receptors that include the tropomyosin receptor kinase (Trk) family of receptors (TrkA, TrkB, and TrkC) and p75 (p75Ntr) to transduce a cascade of intracellular signaling that begins with autophosphorylation of receptor tyrosine kinases. The neurotrophic receptor p75Ntr lacks an intracellular tyrosine kinase domain and acts to potentiate or inhibit the activation of Trk receptors in response to certain ligands (Barker and Shooter, 1994; Bibel et al., 1999; Clary and Reichardt, 1994; Dechant, 2001; Hantzopoulos et al., 1994; Huang and Reichardt, 2003; Verdi et al., 1994).

A prominent result of neurotrophin action on NSCs is the induction of neurogenesis, and many studies have investigated the neurogenic effect on NSCs derived from embryonic and postnatal brains. In embryonic NSC cultures, BDNF, NT-3, and NT-4 enhance neurogenesis and promote neurite outgrowth (Ghosh and Greenberg, 1995; Hosomi et al., 2003; Lim et al., 2007; Lu et al., 2008; Ohtsuka et al., 2009; Shen et al., 2010). Indeed, inhibition of TrkB and/or TrkC signaling in the embryonic brain inhibits NSC proliferation and delays neurogenesis (Bartkowska et al., 2007). In postnatal NSC cultures, BDNF, but not NT-3, promotes neuronal differentiation and neurite outgrowth (Ahmed et al., 1995; Shetty and Turner, 1998). The importance of neurotrophic signaling for hippocampal neurogenesis is demonstrated by the finding that deletion of the TrkB receptor in the postnatal brain leads to a significant reduction in postnatal hippocampal neural progenitor proliferation in vivo and in vitro (Li et al., 2008). Furthermore, mice completely lacking p75Ntr have reduced hippocampal volume, reduced neurogenesis, and increased neuroblast cell death (Catts et al., 2008). Multiple studies have shown that p75Ntr mutant mice are impaired in certain spatial memory tasks and have depressive tendencies (Catts et al., 2008; Peterson et al., 1999; Wright et al., 2004), phenotypes that have been linked with an impairment of neurogenesis from hippocampal NSCs. In addition, mice in which the neurotrophin NT-3 is specifically deleted in the brain beginning at development display a reduction in differentiation and survival of newly generated adult hippocampal neurons (Shimazu et al., 2006). These mice show diminished long-term potentiation (LTP) and impaired performance in the Morris Water Maze, a navigation task which tests hippocampal-dependent spatial memory (Shimazu et al., 2006). These studies using whole animal knock-out or brain-specific deletion of neurotrophic signaling components suggest that adult NSCs and their differentiating progeny rely on neurotrophins for normal function.

Indeed, several studies have indicated that neurotrophin signaling is important for adult NSCs. The neurotrophin receptor p75Ntr is expressed in a subset of proliferating NSC/neural progenitors in the adult SVZ (Giuliani et al., 2004; Young et al., 2007) and is required for neuronal induction by BDNF of adult SVZ NSCs in vitro (Young et al., 2007). In the adult hippocampus, the TrkB receptor is expressed throughout the DG, including in the NSC population (Li et al., 2008) and its expression is upregulated in adult hippocampal NSCs upon exposure to retinoic acid in vitro, allowing the neurotrophins BDNF and NT-3 to promote the maturation of differentiating neurons (Takahashi et al., 1999). The significance of neurotrophin signaling for adult NSCs and their progeny is likely to be revealed under circumstances of changing environmental stimuli that alter neurotrophin availability. For example, increased production of BDNF in the dietary restricted rodent brain promotes the survival of new neurons produced by adult hippocampal NSCs (Lee et al., 2000, 2002a,b). Furthermore, the TrkB receptor is required for the increase in hippocampal neural progenitor proliferation induced by voluntary exercise (Li et al., 2008) (see Sections 6.1 and 6.2). Further investigation of the roles of neurotrophins in adult NSCs would greatly expand our understanding of the confluence of factors involved in adult neurogenesis.

Neurotrophins BDNF, NGF, NT-3, and NT-4 have all been shown in NSCs to activate the PI3K/Akt pathway and the MAPK pathway (Nguyen et al., 2009; Ohtsuka et al., 2009). NT-3 and NT-4 can also activate the PI3K/Akt and MAPK pathways (Lim et al., 2007; Shen et al., 2010), although NT-3 has also been shown to inhibit the activation of the PI3K pathway by the growth factor FGF-2 (Jin et al., 2005). It is possible that the consequences of neurotrophins on intracellular signaling depend on timing and concentration of neurotrophin exposure as well as the presence of other stimulatory factors. Nonetheless, the shared signaling pathways of energy sensing molecules and neurotrophic factors suggest there is a great deal of crosstalk and interaction between these two modules that regulate NSC fate. For example, given that neurotrophins have been shown to regulate the expression of bHLH transcription factors, including Mash1/Ascl1, Math1, and NeuroD, in embryonic NSCs to influence neuronal differentiation (Ito et al., 2003), it is interesting to consider the possibility that other transcription factors downstream of energy-sensing modules, such as FoxO factors, may cooperate with bHLH transcription factors to influence the course of differentiation of NSCs. Another possibility is that under certain cellular conditions that alter energy metabolism, including a hypoxic or reducing state, the transcription and production of neurotrophins as paracrine factors in the NSC niche may be significantly modulated. Many questions regarding the elements and effects of neurotrophin signaling in the context of a changing cellular and systemic energy metabolism remain to be explored.

6. Effects of systemic energy metabolism on neural stem cell fate

NSCs are not only regulated by immediate signaling due to alterations in intracellular energy metabolism but are also influenced by changes to systemic energy availability and the subsequent organismal response. Fluctuations in net energy levels lead to a collection of cellular and systemic changes throughout the body. While the brain does not modulate its glucose and fat storage in the same way liver, muscle, and adipose tissues do in response to low energy availability, it is significantly affected by changing energy supply via metabolites, hormones, and other factors that can cross the blood–brain barrier. This section will focus on two



Fig. 4. Effects of altered systemic energy metabolism on adult NSC fate. Dietary restriction promotes survival of newborn dentate granule cells while exercise stimulates NSC proliferation and subsequent neurogenesis in the dentate gyrus (DG). Aging reduces proliferation of both subventricular zone (SVZ) and DG NSCs, leading to decreased neurogenesis. It is also thought that total numbers of NSCs decline with age. Diabetes is associated with reduced DG NSC proliferation and neurogenesis while ischemic stroke can lead to increased NSC proliferation and neurogenesis in both the SVZ and DG depending on the location of the occlusion.

contrasting manipulations of energy supply, dietary restriction and exercise, which impact hippocampal circuitry through the regulation of neuron survival or production from adult NSCs, respectively (Fig. 4).

6.1. Dietary restriction

Dietary restriction (DR) is the practice of reducing calorie intake (20–40%) without malnutrition. It has been shown to extend the average lifespan by up to 50% in many animal organisms, including mammals, and provides health benefits for non-human primates (Colman et al., 2009; Lakowski and Hekimi, 1998; Mair and Dillin, 2008; Weindruch and Walford, 1982, 1988). DR can delay the onset of age-related conditions such as cancer, heart disease, diabetes, and neurodegeneration (Hursting et al., 2001; Lane et al., 1999; Mattson, 2000). The multitude of health benefits conferred by DR is thought to result from the ensuing action of the energy-sensing pathways described above in many tissues of the body, including the brain (Bordone and Guarente, 2005).

Dietary restriction increases the survival of new neurons produced by NSCs in the adult dentate gyrus (DG). Adult rodents (mice and rats) that consume approximately 30% fewer calories than ad libitum control rodents through a 3-month regimen of feeding every other day display an increase in newly generated neurons in the DG granule cell layer (Lee et al., 2000, 2002a,b). Interestingly, neural progenitor proliferation is not affected by DR; rather, the survival of newly generated cells in the DG granule cell laver is increased. The increased production of brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) by CA1 hippocampal pyramidal neurons in response to DR may be partially responsible for DRinduced increase in neuronal survival (Lee et al., 2000, 2002a), likely by acting on immature neurons directly rather than on NSCs or neuronal progenitors. Another study employing a different method of DR (gradual increase of calorie restriction up to 40%) found no effect on neurogenesis, but instead revealed an increase in the production of glial cells in the hilar layer of the dentate gyrus (Bondolfi et al., 2004). The reasons for this disparity may be attributable to differences in feeding regimen in terms of age of DR initiation and subsequent brain tissue analysis or in the method of restriction (every other day feeding vs. daily 40% calorie reduction). Currently, a specific assessment of the effect of DR on long-term NSC maintenance has not been reported, but it is tempting to speculate how this diet regimen could influence the NSC population.

The energy-sensing pathways described in Section 3 are altered by DR regimens. SIRT1 protein levels are increased in the brain in response to DR (Chen et al., 2008; Cohen et al., 2004). DR may also increase enzymatic activity of SIRT1 given that its coenzyme NAD+ is present at higher levels in conditions of energy depletion. As DR is associated with promoting DNA damage repair, inducing heterochromatin states, and modifying gene expression (Vaquero and Reinberg, 2009), it is likely that the SIRT1 histone deacetylase is one of the mechanisms by which DR affects chromatin states and that this action has functional relevance for gene expression in NSCs in organisms undergoing DR. In addition to potential cellintrinsic effects of SIRT1 on NSCs in response to DR, there is also evidence that actions of brain SIRT1 in the dietary-restricted mouse lead to significant changes in endocrine signaling, which could in turn play a role on NSCs. For example, DR-mediated reduction of serum IGF-1 levels depends on expression of SIRT1 in the brain (D.E. Cohen et al., 2009; Dunn et al., 1997; Masoro et al., 1992). Given the positive effect of IGF-1 on NSC proliferation and neuronal/oligodendroglial differentiation, it is possible that by reducing IGF-1 levels, DR could promote the maintenance of the NSC population by inhibiting excessive proliferation and premature differentiation. Interestingly, acute (6 days) DR reduces serum IGF-1 levels in humans, but chronic (1 year+) DR does not alter IGF-1 levels in the serum (Fontana et al., 2008; Thissen et al., 1994). This observation emphasizes the important differences between humans and model species and also suggests that there may be differences between the effects of transient and prolonged food reductions on NSCs and neurogenesis.

In addition to alterations in levels of neurotrophins, SIRT1, and IGF-1 in the brain. DR leads to the upregulation of SIRT6, another Sirtuin family member involved in chromatin regulation (Kanfi et al., 2008), but does not affect SIRT2, SIRT3, SIRT4 expression in the brain (SIRT5 and SIRT7 brain expression regulation by DR has not yet tested) (Haigis et al., 2006; Hirschey et al., 2010; Wang et al., 2007). Activity of AMPK in the hippocampus is also increased in rats in response to 40% DR (Dagon et al., 2005). Whether DR influences Sirtuin and AMPK expression and/or activity specifically in the NSCs is not known yet. Finally, DR leads to a reduction in oxidative stress in the brain, which is achieved, in part, by increasing levels of the antioxidants coenzyme Q_{10} and α tocopherol as well as the activity of redox enzymes on plasma membrane (Hyun et al., 2006). It remains to be determined whether changes in redox enzyme activities and oxidation occur in the NSC population in response to DR.

A more complete understanding of the effects of DR on NSCs and the surrounding niche is still required. For example, how does a lifetime of DR affect the age-associated decline in the pool of adult NSCs? Is there a similar effect of DR in the SVZ and the DG? How does DR influence the production of all different cell types from NSCs, including neurons, astrocytes and oligodendrocytes? And finally, given the positive effect of DR on NSC proliferation and neurogenesis, how does excess energy, as is often the case in obesity, affect the NSC population?

6.2. Exercise

While not equivalent to DR, exercise is an alternative method of lowering net energy levels and has consistently been shown to upregulate hippocampal NSC proliferation and neurogenesis in rodents (van Praag, 2008). The effects of exercise on human NSCs and neurogenesis are not known, but physical activity is associated with enhanced cognitive function in humans (Hillman et al., 2008). Voluntary running increases proliferation and neurogenesis in the mouse and correlates with enhanced performance in tasks testing long-term potentiation, spatial learning, and spatial pattern separation, of which the latter two are considered to be dependent on hippocampal adult neurogenesis (Clelland et al., 2009; Creer et al., 2010; van Praag et al., 1999a,b). Current evidence indicates that the beneficial effect of running on neurogenesis is mediated by the action of released hormones and growth factors. Both IGF-1 and VEGF individually mediate part of the effect of running on neurogenesis (Carro et al., 2000; Fabel et al., 2003; Trejo et al., 2001). Growth hormone receptor knock-out mice do not display increases in NSC proliferation due to running (Blackmore et al., 2009). The impact of growth hormone signaling on exercise-induced NSC proliferation is likely to be at least partially mediated by its effect on IGF-1 release. Neurotrophic signaling also appears to be required for the effect of exercise on NSC proliferation as mice lacking the TrkB receptor in the postnatal brain fail to show an increase in NSC proliferation in the DG after voluntary running (Li et al., 2008). Maturation of newly generated neurons in the hippocampus is also promoted by running (Redila and Christie, 2006; Zhao et al., 2006), emphasizing that these new neurons integrate and function in the existing hippocampal circuitry. Interestingly, running's effect on NSCs is specific to DG NSCs as exercise does not seem to affect proliferation of SVZ NSCs or their differentiation into olfactory bulb interneurons (Brown et al., 2003). The mechanisms that determine the specificity of the hippocampal NSC response to exercise are not yet clear.

A potential conundrum lies in the observation that exercise promotes hippocampal NSC proliferation and neurogenesis in a partially IGF-1-dependent manner and dietary restriction increases survival of new neurons produced by adult hippocampal NSCs but is associated with decreased serum IGF-1 levels. How can these phenotypes be reconciled? DR appears to promote the neuronal survival without affecting proliferation or actual neuronal production of NSCs (Lee et al., 2000), suggesting that the reduction in serum IGF-1 levels under DR is not a relevant factor for proliferation and neuronal differentiation from NSCs in this context. This emphasizes that the mechanisms underlying the beneficial effects of DR and exercise on NSCs and brain function in general are likely to be distinct or at least not completely overlapping.

7. Effects of aging and pathologies with deregulated energy metabolism and oxygen homeostasis on adult neural stem cells

Aging and many pathological conditions both within and outside the nervous system are associated with disordered energy metabolism and ROS imbalances. Given the evidence for a role of metabolism and its by-products in NSC fate presented above, it is important to consider how a pathological condition can ultimately lead to changes in NSC function as a consequence of altered energy metabolism. In this section, we will describe the consequences of aging as well as two examples of pathologies in which energy and oxygen homeostasis are deregulated (diabetes and ischemic stroke) on adult NSCs and neurogenesis (Fig. 4). An improved understanding of the effect of these and other medical conditions on NSCs has the potential to both uncover the networks of factors that contribute to NSC maintenance and differentiation and increase awareness of potential side effects of diseases and their treatments.

7.1. Aging

The inevitable process of aging leads to detrimental changes to the adult NSC SVZ and DG populations in both total number and proliferation, resulting in fewer newly produced neurons (Ben Abdallah et al., 2010; Bondolfi et al., 2004; Enwere et al., 2004; Kuhn et al., 1996; Lugert et al., 2010; Maslov et al., 2004; Molofsky et al., 2006). The age-dependent decline in neurogenesis is also observed in primates (Gould et al., 1999). While our understanding of these age-related effects on NSC fate is still not complete, the decline of NSC function with age appears to be mediated by alterations in both cell-intrinsic and cell-extrinsic mechanisms that promote NSC maintenance and neuronal differentiation. An age-related increase in the expression of the senescence regulator p16^{INK4a} in NSC/progenitors is thought to be one cell-intrinsic cause of the diminishing the pool of adult NSC/progenitors (Molofsky et al., 2006). Levels of the growth factors bFGF, VEGF, and IGF-1 decrease with age in the hippocampus (Shetty et al., 2005) and may contribute to the reduction in progenitor proliferation and production of neurons and oligodendrocytes (Hsieh et al., 2004) in the aging brain. Furthermore, plasma IGF-1 levels decline with age in rodents and humans (Rudman, 1985; Rudman et al., 1981). However, given the stimulatory effect of IGF-1 on NSC proliferation and the need to preserve a pool of relatively quiescent adult NSCs, it is not obvious what would be the net effect of declining IGF-1 levels during aging on NSC proliferation and neurogenesis. Heterochronic parabiosis experiments in which a young and old mouse share a circulatory system would help tease apart the systemic effect of the aging organism on NSC function (Conboy et al., 2005).

The brain also displays aging-related declines in metabolic function that may directly and indirectly influence NSC maintenance. There is an age-associated increase in oxidative damage to nuclear DNA (Hamilton et al., 2001), protein oxidation (Cini and Moretti, 1995), and lipid oxidation (O'Donnell and Lynch, 1998). Furthermore, the total antioxidant capacity of the hippocampus and several other brain structures is reduced in old brains (Sigueira et al., 2005). If these age-dependent alterations occur in NSCs themselves, a reduction in cell survival may result and contribute to the depletion of the aging NSC pool. A cell type in the brain with such altered metabolic and mitochondrial function are astrocytes. Astrocytes from old mice display reduced cell growth, decreased mitochondrial membrane potential, and are more sensitive to oxidative stress compared to astroctyes from young adult mice (Lin et al., 2007). "Old" astrocytes also have a reduced capacity to provide neuroprotection in co-cultures with NGF-differentiated PC12 cells. It remains to be determined whether such metabolic changes in cells in close proximity of NSCs in vivo (part of the NSC niche) during aging lead to alterations in NSC function. An important unanswered question related to this observation is whether the ratio of NAD+/NADH is altered in the aging NSC niche and how this impacts NAD+-dependent metabolic pathways and enzymes (Houtkooper et al., 2010), such as the family of Sirtuin deacetylases. Finally, the deregulation of cellular metabolism and redox homeostasis that occurs in aging has also been observed in many neurodegenerative diseases, including Alzheimer's disease and multiple sclerosis (Bishop et al., 2010; Gilgun-Sherki et al., 2004; Penberthy and Tsunoda, 2009), suggesting that NSC selfrenewal and differentiation may be altered in such brain pathologies.

7.2. Diabetes as an example of disordered metabolism

Diabetes is a common metabolic disorder that is characterized by an inability to either produce insulin (type I) or to respond to insulin (type II). As a result, inappropriately managed diabetes leads to unregulated glucose levels, either excessive amounts of glucose (hyperglycemia) or insufficient levels of glucose (hypoglycemia), both of which can be detrimental to neurogenesis originating from adult NSCs.

Several independent studies of rodent diabetes models have indicated that diabetes is associated with reduced neural progenitor proliferation and neurogenesis. Type II diabetic mice that carry a mutation in the leptin receptor and streptozotocin (STZ)-induced type I diabetic mice and rats display reduced proliferation and neurogenesis in the DG (Jackson-Guilford et al., 2000; Saravia et al., 2004; Stranahan et al., 2008a; W.J. Zhang et al., 2008). The mechanism appears to be independent of the direct action of glucose and insulin in the DG since levels of these molecules in the whole hippocampus do not differ between diabetic and control animals (Stranahan et al., 2008a). Glucocorticoid signaling may mediate the negative effects of diabetes on brain function, and possibly on NSC fate given the negative effect of elevated corticosteroid levels on hippocampal neurogenesis in old mice (Cameron and McKay, 1999). Indeed, diabetic mice show increased levels of the steroid hormone corticosterone and reducing corticosterone levels back to control levels of healthy mice rescues the diabetes-induced impairment of learning and memory (Stranahan et al., 2008a). Diabetes is also associated with vasculature dysfunction which may also contribute to the changes that occur to NSC that lie close to blood vessels in both the SVZ and DG. Hypoglycemia, which can be caused by excessive amounts of insulin in diabetes treatment, induces a transient increase in DG neural progenitor proliferation followed by reduced progenitor proliferation below baseline as well as loss of newly formed DG granule neurons in rats (Suh et al., 2005). Thus, glucose imbalance that occurs in diabetes interferes with new neuron production and survival from adult NSCs. Following NSC number and multipotency throughout the life of diabetic model rodents will be key to determine how NSC number and function change with age in this metabolic disease.

It is possible that defects in neurogenesis have a functional consequence as learning and memory are compromised in diabetic mice (Alvarez et al., 2009; Stranahan et al., 2008b). This may also play a role in the cognitive decline observed in humans with diabetes (Kodl and Seaquist, 2008). However, a causal relationship between reduced adult neurogenesis in diabetes and impaired cognitive function has not yet been shown.

Interestingly, a widely used medication for diabetes is the AMPK activator metformin (Fryer et al., 2002; Zhou et al., 2001). Since AMPK may be important for proliferation and stress resistance of NSCs (Section 3.2), it is possible that metformin treatment provides an additional benefit to patients with diabetes by preserving NSC function or at least inhibiting a reduction in NSC function that is associated with diabetes. In fact, type II diabetic rats treated with metformin display an increased in hippocampal NSC proliferation and neuroblast production compared to control diabetic rats (Hwang et al., 2010), suggesting there may be similar consequences of metformin treatment in human diabetic patients. The mechanism of metformin's effects has not been established, but it would be important to determine whether it is AMPK-dependent and whether downstream activation of Sirt1 by AMPK is functionally relevant in NSC fate (Canto et al., 2009).

7.3. Ischemic stroke as an example of severe glucose-oxygen deprivation

Ischemic stroke is highly prevalent in the aging population and a leading cause of chronic disability in the United States (Lloyd-Jones et al., 2009). It is often caused by a thrombosis in a small blood vessel in the brain, but may also result from atherosclerosis. Upon loss of blood supply for a period of time, neural cells become deprived of glucose and oxygen. Persistent loss of blood supply eventually leads to anoxia-induced death of cells, including NSCs, in the vicinity of the blockage. However, transient ischemic stroke in both rodents and humans has been shown to induce proliferation of adult SVZ and DG NSCs and subsequent neurogenesis, a consequence that could potentially aid the recovery of the brain (Arvidsson et al., 2002; Jin et al., 2006; Macas et al., 2006; Marti-Fabregas et al., 2010; Nakatomi et al., 2002; Yagita et al., 2001).

Several metabolism-related factors are likely to contribute to the proliferative and neurogenic effects on NSC following ischemic stroke. First, stroke induces hypoxia. As described in Section 3.4, a mild hypoxia can induce NSC proliferation and neurogenesis. Second, hypoxia may also induce changes in NSCs indirectly through the increased production of angiopoietin-2 in endothelial cells following stroke (Hackett et al., 2000; Lin et al., 2000; Liu et al., 2007; Mandriota and Pepper, 1998; Mandriota et al., 2000; Oh et al., 1999). A growth factor for angiogenesis, angiopoietin-2 stimulates migration and differentiation of adult SVZ NSCs into neurons in vitro (Liu et al., 2009). The beneficial effect of angiopoietin-2 on NSCs appears to be cell-intrinsic as it induces the binding of the transcription factor C/EBP β on the promoter of the β -III tubulin neuronal gene (also known as Tuj1) and through down-regulation of pro-glial and anti-neurogenic BMP cytokines. The effect of ischemic stroke on NSC proliferation and neurogenesis may also be mediated by increased IGF-1 expression and release by astrocytes as well as greater expression of IGF-1 receptors in neural progenitors of the SVZ and DG (Yan et al., 2006). Infusion of antibodies against IGF-1 inhibits the proliferation of neural progenitors following ischemia, suggesting that IGF-1

action on NSCs may be one of the effectors of ischemia-induced neural progenitor proliferation. An unexplored question is whether the energy-sensing AMPK and Sirtuin enzymes are activated by glucose deprivation during ischemic stroke and whether this has functional consequences for NSCs. Finally, considering that the post-ischemia environment is characterized by a significant degree of inflammation (Hoehn et al., 2005), which can be damaging for neurogenesis and survival of new neurons (Carpentier and Palmer, 2009), dietary manipulations and exercise potentially constitute a therapeutic intervention to promote neuronal survival and functional neurogenesis in stroke victims.

8. Conclusions

Adult NSCs are a population of self-renewing cells that contribute new neurons, astrocytes, and oligodendrocytes to the brain throughout life. Evidence for their function in memory formation, mood regulation, and regeneration following tissue injury provides compelling motivation for further investigation of NSC biology. The proliferation, survival, and differentiation characteristics of adult NSCs are influenced by a variety of factors, many of which are associated with energy metabolism and can be altered through lifestyle interventions that include dietary restriction and exercise. It is also becoming clear that energysensing molecules interact with intracellular pathways known to orchestrate NSC self-renewal, proliferation, and differentiation, indicating the significance of metabolism dynamics for normal NSC biology. As interest in the subject of energy metabolism in NSC fate grows, we will inevitably achieve a better understanding of the molecular mechanisms that determine adult NSC fate in response to changing energy availability both in the local NSC niche and in the entire organism.

References

- Aberg, M.A., Aberg, N.D., Hedbacker, H., Oscarsson, J., Eriksson, P.S., 2000. Peripheral infusion of IGF-I selectively induces neurogenesis in the adult rat hippocampus. J. Neurosci. 20, 2896–2903.
- Aberg, M.A., Aberg, N.D., Palmer, T.D., Alborn, A.M., Carlsson-Skwirut, C., Bang, P., Rosengren, L.E., Olsson, T., Gage, F.H., Eriksson, P.S., 2003. IGF-I has a direct proliferative effect in adult hippocampal progenitor cells. Mol. Cell. Neurosci. 24, 23–40.
- Afshar, G., Murnane, J.P., 1999. Characterization of a human gene with sequence homology to Saccharomyces cerevisiae SIR2. Gene 234, 161–168.
- Ahmed, S., Reynolds, B.A., Weiss, S., 1995. BDNF enhances the differentiation but not the survival of CNS stem cell-derived neuronal precursors. J. Neurosci. 15, 5765–5778.
- Alcendor, R.R., Gao, S., Zhai, P., Zablocki, D., Holle, E., Yu, X., Tian, B., Wagner, T., Vatner, S.F., Sadoshima, J., 2007. Sirt1 regulates aging and resistance to oxidative stress in the heart. Circ. Res. 100, 1512–1521.
- Altman, J., Das, G.D., 1965. Autoradiographic and histological evidence of postnatal hippocampal neurogenesis in rats. J. Comp. Neurol. 124, 319–335.
- Alvarez, E.O., Beauquis, J., Revsin, Y., Banzan, A.M., Roig, P., De Nicola, A.F., Saravia, F., 2009. Cognitive dysfunction and hippocampal changes in experimental type 1 diabetes. Behav. Brain Res. 198, 224–230.
- Androutsellis-Theotokis, A., Leker, R.R., Soldner, F., Hoeppner, D.J., Ravin, R., Poser, S.W., Rueger, M.A., Bae, S.K., Kittappa, R., McKay, R.D., 2006. Notch signalling regulates stem cell numbers in vitro and in vivo. Nature 442, 823–826.
- Aparicio, O.M., Billington, B.L., Gottschling, D.E., 1991. Modifiers of position effect are shared between telomeric and silent mating-type loci in S. cerevisiae. Cell 66, 1279–1287.
- Arsenijevic, Y., Weiss, S., 1998. Insulin-like growth factor-I is a differentiation factor for postmitotic CNS stem cell-derived neuronal precursors: distinct actions from those of brain-derived neurotrophic factor. J. Neurosci. 18, 2118–2128.
- Arsenijevic, Y., Weiss, S., Schneider, B., Aebischer, P., 2001. Insulin-like growth factor-I is necessary for neural stem cell proliferation and demonstrates distinct actions of epidermal growth factor and fibroblast growth factor-2. J. Neurosci. 21, 7194–7202.
- Arsham, A.M., Howell, J.J., Simon, M.C., 2003. A novel hypoxia-inducible factorindependent hypoxic response regulating mammalian target of rapamycin and its targets. J. Biol. Chem. 278, 29655–29660.
- Arvidsson, A., Collin, T., Kirik, D., Kokaia, Z., Lindvall, O., 2002. Neuronal replacement from endogenous precursors in the adult brain after stroke. Nat. Med. 8, 963– 970.

- Asher, R.A., Morgenstern, D.A., Fidler, P.S., Adcock, K.H., Oohira, A., Braistead, J.E., Levine, J.M., Margolis, R.U., Rogers, J.H., Fawcett, J.W., 2000. Neurocan is upregulated in injured brain and in cytokine-treated astrocytes. J. Neurosci. 20, 2427–2438.
- Bakker, W.J., Harris, I.S., Mak, T.W., 2007. FOXO3a is activated in response to hypoxic stress and inhibits HIF1-induced apoptosis via regulation of CITED2. Mol. Cell. 28, 941–953.
- Banks, W.A., Jaspan, J.B., Kastin, A.J., 1997. Selective, physiological transport of insulin across the blood-brain barrier: novel demonstration by species-specific radioimmunoassays. Peptides 18, 1257–1262.
- Barker, P.A., Shooter, E.M., 1994. Disruption of NGF binding to the low affinity neurotrophin receptor p75LNTR reduces NGF binding to TrkA on PC12 cells. Neuron 13, 203–215.
- Bartkowska, K., Paquin, A., Gauthier, A.S., Kaplan, D.R., Miller, F.D., 2007. Trk signaling regulates neural precursor cell proliferation and differentiation during cortical development. Development 134, 4369–4380.
- Bartlett, W.P., Li, X.S., Williams, M., Benkovic, S., 1991. Localization of insulin-like growth factor-1 mRNA in murine central nervous system during postnatal development. Dev. Biol. 147, 239–250.
- Ben Abdallah, N.M., Slomianka, L., Vyssotski, A.L., Lipp, H.P., 2010. Early age-related changes in adult hippocampal neurogenesis in C57 mice. Neurobiol. Aging 31, 151–161.
- Bibel, M., Hoppe, E., Barde, Y.A., 1999. Biochemical and functional interactions between the neurotrophin receptors trk and p75NTR. EMBO J. 18, 616–622.
- Biggs 3rd, W.H., Meisenhelder, J., Hunter, T., Cavenee, W.K., Arden, K.C., 1999. Protein kinase B/Akt-mediated phosphorylation promotes nuclear exclusion of the winged helix transcription factor FKHR1. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci U.S.A. 96, 7421–7426.
- Bishop, N.A., Lu, T., Yankner, B.A., 2010. Neural mechanisms of ageing and cognitive decline. Nature 464, 529–535.
- Blackmore, D.G., Golmohammadi, M.G., Large, B., Waters, M.J., Rietze, R.L., 2009. Exercise increases neural stem cell number in a growth hormone-dependent manner, augmenting the regenerative response in aged mice. Stem Cells 27, 2044–2052.
- Blakesley, V.A., Scrimgeour, A., Esposito, D., Le Roith, D., 1996. Signaling via the insulin-like growth factor-I receptor: does it differ from insulin receptor signaling? Cytokine Growth Factor Rev. 7, 153–159.
- Bluher, M., Kahn, B.B., Kahn, C.R., 2003. Extended longevity in mice lacking the insulin receptor in adipose tissue. Science (New York, NY) 299, 572–574.
- Bond, J., Roberts, E., Mochida, G.H., Hampshire, D.J., Scott, S., Askham, J.M., Springell, K., Mahadevan, M., Crow, Y.J., Markham, A.F., Walsh, C.A., Woods, C.G., 2002. ASPM is a major determinant of cerebral cortical size. Nat. Genet. 32, 316–320.
- Bondolfi, L., Ermini, F., Long, J.M., Ingram, D.K., Jucker, M., 2004. Impact of age and caloric restriction on neurogenesis in the dentate gyrus of C57BL/6 mice. Neurobiol. Aging 25, 333–340.
- Bonnert, T.P., Bilsland, J.G., Guest, P.C., Heavens, R., McLaren, D., Dale, C., Thakur, M., McAllister, G., Munoz-Sanjuan, I., 2006. Molecular characterization of adult mouse subventricular zone progenitor cells during the onset of differentiation. Eur. J. Neurosci. 24, 661–675.
- Bordone, L., Guarente, L., 2005. Calorie restriction, SIRT1 and metabolism: understanding longevity. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 6, 298–305.
 Breton-Provencher, V., Lemasson, M., Peralta 3rd, M.R., Saghatelyan, A., 2009.
- Breton-Provencher, V., Lemasson, M., Peralta 3rd, M.R., Saghatelyan, A., 2009. Interneurons produced in adulthood are required for the normal functioning of the olfactory bulb network and for the execution of selected olfactory behaviors. J. Neurosci. 29, 15245–15257.
- Brown, J., Cooper-Kuhn, C.M., Kempermann, G., Van Praag, H., Winkler, J., Gage, F.H., Kuhn, H.G., 2003. Enriched environment and physical activity stimulate hippocampal but not olfactory bulb neurogenesis. Eur. J. Neurosci. 17, 2042–2046.
- Brugarolas, J., Lei, K., Hurley, R.L., Manning, B.D., Reiling, J.H., Hafen, E., Witters, L.A., Ellisen, L.W., Kaelin Jr., W.G., 2004. Regulation of mTOR function in response to hypoxia by REDD1 and the TSC1/TSC2 tumor suppressor complex. Genes Dev. 18, 2893–2904.
- Bruick, R.K., McKnight, S.L., 2001. A conserved family of prolyl-4-hydroxylases that modify HIF. Science (New York, NY) 294, 1337–1340.
- Brunet, A., Bonni, A., Zigmond, M.J., Lin, M.Z., Juo, P., Hu, L.S., Anderson, M.J., Arden, K.C., Blenis, J., Greenberg, M.E., 1999. Akt promotes cell survival by phosphorylating and inhibiting a Forkhead transcription factor. Cell 96, 857–868.
- Brunet, A., Sweeney, L.B., Sturgill, J.F., Chua, K.F., Greer, P.L., Lin, Y., Tran, H., Ross, S.E., Mostoslavsky, R., Cohen, H.Y., Hu, L.S., Cheng, H.L., Jedrychowski, M.P., Gygi, S.P., Sinclair, D.A., Alt, F.W., Greenberg, M.E., 2004. Stress-dependent regulation of FOXO transcription factors by the SIRT1 deacetylase. Science (New York, NY) 303, 2011–2015.
- Bull, N.D., Bartlett, P.F., 2005. The adult mouse hippocampal progenitor is neurogenic but not a stem cell. J. Neurosci. 25, 10815–10821.
- Burkhart, D.L., Sage, J., 2008. Cellular mechanisms of tumour suppression by the retinoblastoma gene. Nat. Rev. Cancer 8, 671–682.
- Cameron, H.A., McKay, R.D., 1999. Restoring production of hippocampal neurons in old age. Nat. Neurosci. 2, 894–897.
- Canto, C., Gerhart-Hines, Z., Feige, J.N., Lagouge, M., Noriega, L., Milne, J.C., Elliott, P.J., Puigserver, P., Auwerx, J., 2009. AMPK regulates energy expenditure by modulating NAD+ metabolism and SIRT1 activity. Nature 458, 1056–1060.
- Carlen, M., Cassidy, R.M., Brismar, H., Smith, G.A., Enquist, L.W., Frisen, J., 2002. Functional integration of adult-born neurons. Curr. Biol. 12, 606–608.
- Carling, D., Hardie, D.G., 1989. The substrate and sequence specificity of the AMPactivated protein kinase. Phosphorylation of glycogen synthase and phosphorylase kinase. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1012, 81–86.

Carmeliet, P., Dor, Y., Herbert, J.M., Fukumura, D., Brusselmans, K., Dewerchin, M., Neeman, M., Bono, F., Abramovitch, R., Maxwell, P., Koch, C.J., Ratcliffe, P., Moons, L., Jain, R.K., Collen, D., Keshert, E., 1998. Role of HIF-1alpha in hypoxia-mediated apoptosis, cell proliferation and tumour angiogenesis. Nature 394, 485–490.

Carpentier, P.A., Palmer, T.D., 2009. Immune influence on adult neural stem cell regulation and function. Neuron 64, 79–92.

- Carro, E., Nunez, A., Busiguina, S., Torres-Aleman, I., 2000. Circulating insulin-like growth factor I mediates effects of exercise on the brain. J. Neurosci. 20, 2926– 2933.
- Carson, M.J., Behringer, R.R., Brinster, R.L., McMorris, F.A., 1993. Insulin-like growth factor I increases brain growth and central nervous system myelination in transgenic mice. Neuron 10, 729–740.
- Catts, V.S., Al-Menhali, N., Burne, T.H., Colditz, M.J., Coulson, E.J., 2008. The p75 neurotrophin receptor regulates hippocampal neurogenesis and related behaviours. Eur. J. Neurosci. 28, 883–892.
- Chen, D., Bruno, J., Easlon, E., Lin, S.J., Cheng, H.L., Alt, F.W., Guarente, L., 2008. Tissue-specific regulation of SIRT1 by calorie restriction. Genes Dev. 22, 1753– 1757.
- Chen, H.L., Pistollato, F., Hoeppner, D.J., Ni, H.T., McKay, R.D., Panchision, D.M., 2007. Oxygen tension regulates survival and fate of mouse central nervous system precursors at multiple levels. Stem Cells 25, 2291–2301.
- Cheng, S.W., Fryer, L.G., Carling, D., Shepherd, P.R., 2004. Thr2446 is a novel mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) phosphorylation site regulated by nutrient status. J. Biol. Chem. 279, 15719–15722.
- Chintawar, S., Hourez, R., Ravella, A., Gall, D., Orduz, D., Rai, M., Bishop, D.P., Geuna, S., Schiffmann, S.N., Pandolfo, M., 2009. Grafting neural precursor cells promotes functional recovery in an SCA1 mouse model. J. Neurosci. 29, 13126– 13135.
- Cini, M., Moretti, A., 1995. Studies on lipid peroxidation and protein oxidation in the aging brain. Neurobiol. Aging 16, 53–57.
- Clancy, D.J., Gems, D., Harshman, L.G., Oldham, S., Stocker, H., Hafen, E., Leevers, S.J., Partridge, L., 2001. Extension of life-span by loss of CHICO, a Drosophila insulin receptor substrate protein. Science (New York, NY) 292, 104–106.
- Clary, D.O., Reichardt, L.F., 1994. An alternatively spliced form of the nerve growth factor receptor TrkA confers an enhanced response to neurotrophin 3. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 91, 11133–11137.
- Clelland, C.D., Choi, M., Romberg, C., Clemenson Jr., G.D., Fragniere, A., Tyers, P., Jessberger, S., Saksida, L.M., Barker, R.A., Gage, F.H., Bussey, T.J., 2009. A functional role for adult hippocampal neurogenesis in spatial pattern separation. Science (New York, NY) 325, 210–213.
- Cohen, D.E., Supinski, A.M., Bonkowski, M.S., Donmez, G., Guarente, L.P., 2009. Neuronal SIRT1 regulates endocrine and behavioral responses to calorie restriction. Genes Dev. 23, 2812–2817.
- Cohen, E., Paulsson, J.F., Blinder, P., Burstyn-Cohen, T., Du, D., Estepa, G., Adame, A., Pham, H.M., Holzenberger, M., Kelly, J.W., Masliah, E., Dillin, A., 2009. Reduced IGF-1 signaling delays age-associated proteotoxicity in mice. Cell 139, 1157– 1169.
- Cohen, H.Y., Miller, C., Bitterman, K.J., Wall, N.R., Hekking, B., Kessler, B., Howitz, K.T., Gorospe, M., de Cabo, R., Sinclair, D.A., 2004. Calorie restriction promotes mammalian cell survival by inducing the SIRT1 deacetylase. Science (New York, NY) 305, 390–392.
- Colman, R.J., Anderson, R.M., Johnson, S.C., Kastman, E.K., Kosmatka, K.J., Beasley, T.M., Allison, D.B., Cruzen, C., Simmons, H.A., Kemnitz, J.W., Weindruch, R., 2009. Caloric restriction delays disease onset and mortality in rhesus monkeys. Science (New York, NY) 325, 201–204.
- Conboy, I.M., Conboy, M.J., Wagers, A.J., Girma, E.R., Weissman, I.L., Rando, T.A., 2005. Rejuvenation of aged progenitor cells by exposure to a young systemic environment. Nature 433, 760–764.
- Cool, B., Zinker, B., Chiou, W., Kifle, L., Cao, N., Perham, M., Dickinson, R., Adler, A., Gagne, G., Iyengar, R., Zhao, G., Marsh, K., Kym, P., Jung, P., Camp, H.S., Frevert, E., 2006. Identification and characterization of a small molecule AMPK activator that treats key components of type 2 diabetes and the metabolic syndrome. Cell Metab. 3, 403–416.
- Corsini, N.S., Sancho-Martinez, I., Laudenklos, S., Glagow, D., Kumar, S., Letellier, E., Koch, P., Teodorczyk, M., Kleber, S., Klussmann, S., Wiestler, B., Brustle, O., Mueller, W., Gieffers, C., Hill, O., Thiemann, M., Seedorf, M., Gretz, N., Sprengel, R., Celikel, T., Martin-Villalba, A., 2009. The death receptor CD95 activates adult neural stem cells for working memory formation and brain repair. Cell Stem Cell 5, 178–190.
- Creer, D.J., Romberg, C., Saksida, L.M., van Praag, H., Bussey, T.J., 2010. Running enhances spatial pattern separation in mice. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 107, 2367–2372.
- Crute, B.E., Seefeld, K., Gamble, J., Kemp, B.E., Witters, L.A., 1998. Functional domains of the alpha1 catalytic subunit of the AMP-activated protein kinase. J. Biol. Chem. 273, 35347–35354.
- Culmsee, C., Monnig, J., Kemp, B.E., Mattson, M.P., 2001. AMP-activated protein kinase is highly expressed in neurons in the developing rat brain and promotes neuronal survival following glucose deprivation. J. Mol. Neurosci. 17, 45–58.
- D'Ercole, A.J., Ye, P., Calikoglu, A.S., Gutierrez-Ospina, G., 1996. The role of the insulin-like growth factors in the central nervous system. Mol. Neurobiol. 13, 227–255.
- Dagon, Y., Avraham, Y., Magen, I., Gertler, A., Ben-Hur, T., Berry, E.M., 2005. Nutritional status, cognition, and survival: a new role for leptin and AMP kinase. J. Biol. Chem. 280, 42142–42148.
- Das, C., Lucia, M.S., Hansen, K.C., Tyler, J.K., 2009. CBP/p300-mediated acetylation of histone H3 on lysine 56. Nature 459, 113–117.

- Dasgupta, B., Milbrandt, J., 2009. AMP-activated protein kinase phosphorylates retinoblastoma protein to control mammalian brain development. Dev. Cell 16, 256–270.
- Davies, S.P., Carling, D., Munday, M.R., Hardie, D.G., 1992. Diurnal rhythm of phosphorylation of rat liver acetyl-CoA carboxylase by the AMP-activated protein kinase, demonstrated using freeze-clamping. Effects of high fat diets. Eur. J. Biochem. 203, 615–623.
- De Meyts, P., Whittaker, J., 2002. Structural biology of insulin and IGF1 receptors: implications for drug design. Nat. Rev. Drug Discov. 1, 769–783.
- Dechant, G., 2001. Molecular interactions between neurotrophin receptors. Cell Tissue Res. 305, 229–238.
- Deng, W., Saxe, M.D., Gallina, I.S., Gage, F.H., 2009. Adult-born hippocampal dentate granule cells undergoing maturation modulate learning and memory in the brain. J. Neurosci. 29, 13532–13542.
- Dioum, E.M., Chen, R., Alexander, M.S., Zhang, Q., Hogg, R.T., Gerard, R.D., Garcia, J.A., 2009. Regulation of hypoxia-inducible factor 2alpha signaling by the stressresponsive deacetylase sirtuin 1. Science (New York, NY) 324, 1289–1293.
- Doetsch, F., Alvarez-Buylla, A., 1996. Network of tangential pathways for neuronal migration in adult mammalian brain. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 93, 14895– 14900.
- Doetsch, F., Petreanu, L., Caille, I., Garcia-Verdugo, J.M., Alvarez-Buylla, A., 2002. EGF converts transit-amplifying neurogenic precursors in the adult brain into multipotent stem cells. Neuron 36, 1021–1034.
- Du, J., Jiang, H., Lin, H., 2009. Investigating the ADP-ribosyltransferase activity of sirtuins with NAD analogues and 32P-NAD. Biochemistry 48, 2878–2890.
- Dunlop, E.A., Tee, A.R., 2009. Mammalian target of rapamycin complex 1: signalling inputs, substrates and feedback mechanisms. Cell. Signal. 21, 827–835.
- Dunn, S.E., Kari, F.W., French, J., Leininger, J.R., Travlos, G., Wilson, R., Barrett, J.C., 1997. Dietary restriction reduces insulin-like growth factor I levels, which modulates apoptosis, cell proliferation, and tumor progression in p53-deficient mice. Cancer Res. 57, 4667–4672.
- Ebert, B.L., Firth, J.D., Ratcliffe, P.J., 1995. Hypoxia and mitochondrial inhibitors regulate expression of glucose transporter-1 via distinct Cis-acting sequences. J. Biol. Chem. 270, 29083–29089.
- Emerit, J., Edeas, M., Bricaire, F., 2004. Neurodegenerative diseases and oxidative stress. Biomed. Pharmacother. 58, 39–46.
- Emerling, B.M., Weinberg, F., Liu, J.L., Mak, T.W., Chandel, N.S., 2008. PTEN regulates p300-dependent hypoxia-inducible factor 1 transcriptional activity through Forkhead transcription factor 3a (FOXO3a). Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 105, 2622–2627.
- Encinas, J.M., Vaahtokari, A., Enikolopov, G., 2006. Fluoxetine targets early progenitor cells in the adult brain. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 103, 8233–8238.
- Enwere, E., Shingo, T., Gregg, C., Fujikawa, H., Ohta, S., Weiss, S., 2004. Aging results in reduced epidermal growth factor receptor signaling, diminished olfactory neurogenesis, and deficits in fine olfactory discrimination. J. Neurosci. 24, 8354–8365.
- Eriksson, P.S., Perfilieva, E., Bjork-Eriksson, T., Alborn, A.M., Nordborg, C., Peterson, D.A., Gage, F.H., 1998. Neurogenesis in the adult human hippocampus. Nat. Med. 4, 1313–1317.
- Fabel, K., Tam, B., Kaufer, D., Baiker, A., Simmons, N., Kuo, C.J., Palmer, T.D., 2003. VEGF is necessary for exercise-induced adult hippocampal neurogenesis. Eur. J. Neurosci. 18, 2803–2812.
- Faiz, M., Acarin, L., Peluffo, H., Villapol, S., Castellano, B., Gonzalez, B., 2006. Antioxidant Cu/Zn SOD: expression in postnatal brain progenitor cells. Neurosci. Lett. 401, 71–76.
- Farioli-Vecchioli, S., Saraulli, D., Costanzi, M., Pacioni, S., Cina, I., Aceti, M., Micheli, L., Bacci, A., Cestari, V., Tirone, F., 2008. The timing of differentiation of adult hippocampal neurons is crucial for spatial memory. PLoS Biol. 6, e246.
- Feldser, D., Agani, F., Iyer, N.V., Pak, B., Ferreira, G., Semenza, G.L., 1999. Reciprocal positive regulation of hypoxia-inducible factor 1alpha and insulin-like growth factor 2. Cancer Res. 59, 3915–3918.
- Ferron, S., Mira, H., Franco, S., Cano-Jaimez, M., Bellmunt, E., Ramirez, C., Farinas, I., Blasco, M.A., 2004. Telomere shortening and chromosomal instability abrogates proliferation of adult but not embryonic neural stem cells. Development 131, 4059–4070.
- Fontana, L., Weiss, E.P., Villareal, D.T., Klein, S., Holloszy, J.O., 2008. Long-term effects of calorie or protein restriction on serum IGF-1 and IGFBP-3 concentration in humans. Aging Cell 7, 681–687.
- Ford, E., Voit, R., Liszt, G., Magin, C., Grummt, I., Guarente, L., 2006. Mammalian Sir2 homolog SIRT7 is an activator of RNA polymerase I transcription. Genes Dev. 20, 1075–1080.
- Forsythe, J.A., Jiang, B.H., Iyer, N.V., Agani, F., Leung, S.W., Koos, R.D., Semenza, G.L., 1996. Activation of vascular endothelial growth factor gene transcription by hypoxia-inducible factor 1. Mol. Cell. Biol. 16, 4604–4613.
- Frescas, D., Valenti, L., Accili, D., 2005. Nuclear trapping of the forkhead transcription factor FoxO1 via Sirt-dependent deacetylation promotes expression of glucogenetic genes. J. Biol. Chem. 280, 20589–20595.
- Friedman, D.B., Johnson, T.E., 1988. A mutation in the age-1 gene in Caenorhabditis elegans lengthens life and reduces hermaphrodite fertility. Genetics 118, 75–86.
- Fryer, L.G., Parbu-Patel, A., Carling, D., 2002. The anti-diabetic drugs rosiglitazone and metformin stimulate AMP-activated protein kinase through distinct signaling pathways. J. Biol. Chem. 277, 25226–25232.
- Fulco, M., Schiltz, R.L., Iezzi, S., King, M.T., Zhao, P., Kashiwaya, Y., Hoffman, E., Veech, R.L., Sartorelli, V., 2003. Sir2 regulates skeletal muscle differentiation as a potential sensor of the redox state. Mol. Cell 12, 51–62.

- Galli, R., Binda, E., Orfanelli, U., Cipelletti, B., Gritti, A., De Vitis, S., Fiocco, R., Foroni, C., Dimeco, F., Vescovi, A., 2004. Isolation and characterization of tumorigenic, stem-like neural precursors from human glioblastoma. Cancer Res. 64, 7011– 7021.
- Gerozissis, K., 2003. Brain insulin: regulation, mechanisms of action and functions. Cell. Mol. Neurobiol. 23, 1–25.
- Geschwind, D.H., Ou, J., Easterday, M.C., Dougherty, J.D., Jackson, R.L., Chen, Z., Antoine, H., Terskikh, A., Weissman, I.L., Nelson, S.F., Kornblum, H.I., 2001. A genetic analysis of neural progenitor differentiation. Neuron 29, 325–339.
- Gheusi, G., Cremer, H., McLean, H., Chazal, G., Vincent, J.D., Lledo, P.M., 2000. Importance of newly generated neurons in the adult olfactory bulb for odor discrimination. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 97, 1823–1828.
- Ghosh, A., Greenberg, M.E., 1995. Distinct roles for bFGF and NT-3 in the regulation of cortical neurogenesis. Neuron 15, 89–103.
- Gilgun-Sherki, Y., Melamed, E., Offen, D., 2004. The role of oxidative stress in the pathogenesis of multiple sclerosis: the need for effective antioxidant therapy. J. Neurol. 251, 261–268.
- Gingras, A.C., Raught, B., Sonenberg, N., 2001. Regulation of translation initiation by FRAP/mTOR. Genes Dev. 15, 807–826.
- Giuliani, A., D'Intino, G., Paradisi, M., Giardino, L., Calza, L., 2004. p75(NTR)-immunoreactivity in the subventricular zone of adult male rats: expression by cycling cells. J. Mol. Histol. 35, 749–758.
- Gonzalez-Perez, O., Romero-Rodriguez, R., Soriano-Navarro, M., Garcia-Verdugo, J.M., Alvarez-Buylla, A., 2009. Epidermal growth factor induces the progeny of subventricular zone type B cells to migrate and differentiate into oligodendrocytes. Stem Cells 27, 2032–2043.
- Gottlieb, S., Esposito, R.E., 1989. A new role for a yeast transcriptional silencer gene, SIR2, in regulation of recombination in ribosomal DNA. Cell 56, 771–776.
- Gould, E., 2007. How widespread is adult neurogenesis in mammals? Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 8, 481–488.
- Gould, E., Reeves, A.J., Fallah, M., Tanapat, P., Gross, C.G., Fuchs, E., 1999. Hippocampal neurogenesis in adult Old World primates. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 96, 5263–5267.
- Greer, E.L., Brunet, A., 2005. FOXO transcription factors at the interface between longevity and tumor suppression. Oncogene 24, 7410–7425.
- Greer, E.L., Dowlatshahi, D., Banko, M.R., Villen, J., Hoang, K., Blanchard, D., Gygi, S.P., Brunet, A., 2007a. An AMPK-FOXO pathway mediates longevity induced by a novel method of dietary restriction in *C. elegans*. Curr. Biol. 17, 1646–1656.
- Greer, E.L., Oskoui, P.R., Banko, M.R., Maniar, J.M., Gygi, M.P., Gygi, S.P., Brunet, A., 2007b. The energy sensor AMP-activated protein kinase directly regulates the mammalian FOXO3 transcription factor. J. Biol. Chem. 282, 30107–30119. Gregorian, C., Nakashima, J., Le Belle, J., Ohab, J., Kim, R., Liu, A., Smith, K.B., Groszer,
- Gregorian, C., Nakashima, J., Le Belle, J., Ohab, J., Kim, R., Liu, A., Smith, K.B., Groszer, M., Garcia, A.D., Sofroniew, M.V., Carmichael, S.T., Kornblum, H.I., Liu, X., Wu, H., 2009. Pten deletion in adult neural stem/progenitor cells enhances constitutive neurogenesis. J. Neurosci. 29, 1874–1886.
- Gritti, A., Bonfanti, L., Doetsch, F., Caille, I., Alvarez-Buylla, A., Lim, D.A., Galli, R., Verdugo, J.M., Herrera, D.G., Vescovi, A.L., 2002. Multipotent neural stem cells reside into the rostral extension and olfactory bulb of adult rodents. J. Neurosci. 22, 437–445.
- Gritti, A., Parati, E.A., Cova, L., Frolichsthal, P., Galli, R., Wanke, E., Faravelli, L., Morassutti, D.J., Roisen, F., Nickel, D.D., Vescovi, A.L., 1996. Multipotential stem cells from the adult mouse brain proliferate and self-renew in response to basic fibroblast growth factor. J. Neurosci. 16, 1091–1100.
- Groszer, M., Erickson, R., Scripture-Adams, D.D., Dougherty, J.D., Le Belle, J., Zack, J.A., Geschwind, D.H., Liu, X., Kornblum, H.I., Wu, H., 2006. PTEN negatively regulates neural stem cell self-renewal by modulating G0–G1 cell cycle entry. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 103, 111–116.
- Groszer, M., Erickson, R., Scripture-Adams, D.D., Lesche, R., Trumpp, A., Zack, J.A., Kornblum, H.I., Liu, X., Wu, H., 2001. Negative regulation of neural stem/ progenitor cell proliferation by the Pten tumor suppressor gene in vivo. Science (New York, NY) 294, 2186–2189.
- Gurok, U., Steinhoff, C., Lipkowitz, B., Ropers, H.H., Scharff, C., Nuber, U.A., 2004. Gene expression changes in the course of neural progenitor cell differentiation. J. Neurosci. 24, 5982–6002.
- Gustafsson, M.V., Zheng, X., Pereira, T., Gradin, K., Jin, S., Lundkvist, J., Ruas, J.L., Poellinger, L., Lendahl, U., Bondesson, M., 2005. Hypoxia requires notch signaling to maintain the undifferentiated cell state. Dev. Cell 9, 617–628.
- Gwinn, D.M., Shackelford, D.B., Egan, D.F., Mihaylova, M.M., Mery, A., Vasquez, D.S., Turk, B.E., Shaw, R.J., 2008. AMPK phosphorylation of raptor mediates a metabolic checkpoint. Mol. Cell 30, 214–226.
- Hackett, S.F., Ozaki, H., Strauss, R.W., Wahlin, K., Suri, C., Maisonpierre, P., Yancopoulos, G., Campochiaro, P.A., 2000. Angiopoietin 2 expression in the retina: upregulation during physiologic and pathologic neovascularization. J. Cell. Physiol. 184, 275–284.
- Haigis, M.C., Mostoslavsky, R., Haigis, K.M., Fahie, K., Christodoulou, D.C., Murphy, A.J., Valenzuela, D.M., Yancopoulos, G.D., Karow, M., Blander, G., Wolberger, C., Prolla, T.A., Weindruch, R., Alt, F.W., Guarente, L., 2006. SIRT4 inhibits glutamate dehydrogenase and opposes the effects of calorie restriction in pancreatic beta cells. Cell 126, 941–954.
- Hamilton, M.L., Van Remmen, H., Drake, J.A., Yang, H., Guo, Z.M., Kewitt, K., Walter, C.A., Richardson, A., 2001. Does oxidative damage to DNA increase with age? Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 98, 10469–10474.
- Han, J., Wang, B., Xiao, Z., Gao, Y., Zhao, Y., Zhang, J., Chen, B., Wang, X., Dai, J., 2008. Mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) is involved in the neuronal differentiation of neural progenitors induced by insulin. Mol. Cell. Neurosci. 39, 118–124.

- Hantzopoulos, P.A., Suri, C., Glass, D.J., Goldfarb, M.P., Yancopoulos, G.D., 1994. The low affinity NGF receptor, p75, can collaborate with each of the Trks to potentiate functional responses to the neurotrophins. Neuron 13, 187–201.
- Hardie, D.G., 2008. AMPK: a key regulator of energy balance in the single cell and the whole organism. Int. J. Obes. (Lond.) 32 (Suppl. 4), S7–S12.
- Hawley, S.A., Boudeau, J., Reid, J.L., Mustard, K.J., Udd, L., Makela, T.P., Alessi, D.R., Hardie, D.G., 2003. Complexes between the LKB1 tumor suppressor, STRAD alpha/beta and MO25 alpha/beta are upstream kinases in the AMP-activated protein kinase cascade. J. Biol. 2, 28.
- Hawley, S.A., Davison, M., Woods, A., Davies, S.P., Beri, R.K., Carling, D., Hardie, D.G., 1996. Characterization of the AMP-activated protein kinase kinase from rat liver and identification of threonine 172 as the major site at which it phosphorylates AMP-activated protein kinase. J. Biol. Chem. 271, 27879–27887.
- Hawley, S.A., Pan, D.A., Mustard, K.J., Ross, L., Bain, J., Edelman, A.M., Frenguelli, B.G., Hardie, D.G., 2005. Calmodulin-dependent protein kinase kinase-beta is an alternative upstream kinase for AMP-activated protein kinase. Cell Metab. 2, 9–19.
- Hay, N., Sonenberg, N., 2004. Upstream and downstream of mTOR. Genes Dev. 18, 1926–1945.
- Heddleston, J.M., Li, Z., Lathia, J.D., Bao, S., Hjelmeland, A.B., Rich, J.N., 2010. Hypoxia inducible factors in cancer stem cells. Br. J. Cancer 102, 789–795.
- Heidenrich, K.A., Gilmore, P.R., Garvey, W.T., 1989. Glucose transport in primary cultured neurons. J. Neurosci. Res. 22, 397–407.
- Hillman, C.H., Erickson, K.I., Kramer, A.F., 2008. Be smart, exercise your heart: exercise effects on brain and cognition. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 9, 58–65.
- Hirschey, M.D., Shimazu, T., Goetzman, E., Jing, E., Schwer, B., Lombard, D.B., Grueter, C.A., Harris, C., Biddinger, S., Ilkayeva, O.R., Stevens, R.D., Li, Y., Saha, A.K., Ruderman, N.B., Bain, J.R., Newgard, C.B., Farese Jr., R.V., Alt, F.W., Kahn, C.R., Verdin, E., 2010. SIRT3 regulates mitochondrial fatty-acid oxidation by reversible enzyme deacetylation. Nature 464, 121–125.
- Hisahara, S., Chiba, S., Matsumoto, H., Tanno, M., Yagi, H., Shimohama, S., Sato, M., Horio, Y., 2008. Histone deacetylase SIRT1 modulates neuronal differentiation by its nuclear translocation. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 105, 15599–15604.
- Hoehn, B.D., Palmer, T.D., Steinberg, G.K., 2005. Neurogenesis in rats after focal cerebral ischemia is enhanced by indomethacin. Stroke 36, 2718–2724.
- Holick, K.A., Lee, D.C., Hen, R., Dulawa, S.C., 2008. Behavioral effects of chronic fluoxetine in BALB/cJ mice do not require adult hippocampal neurogenesis or the serotonin 1A receptor. Neuropsychopharmacology 33, 406–417.
- Holloway, K.R., Calhoun, T.N., Saxena, M., Metoyer, C.F., Kandler, E.F., Rivera, C.A., Pruitt, K., 2010. SIRT1 regulates Dishevelled proteins and promotes transient and constitutive Wnt signaling. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 107, 9216–9221.
- Holzenberger, M., Dupont, J., Ducos, B., Leneuve, P., Geloen, A., Even, P.C., Cervera, P., Le Bouc, Y., 2003. IGF-1 receptor regulates lifespan and resistance to oxidative stress in mice. Nature 421, 182–187.
- Hosomi, S., Yamashita, T., Aoki, M., Tohyama, M., 2003. The p75 receptor is required for BDNF-induced differentiation of neural precursor cells. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 301, 1011–1015.
- Houtkooper, R.H., Canto, C., Wanders, R.J., Auwerx, J., 2010. The secret life of NAD+: an old metabolite controlling new metabolic signaling pathways. Endocr. Rev. 31, 194–223.
- Hsieh, J., Aimone, J.B., Kaspar, B.K., Kuwabara, T., Nakashima, K., Gage, F.H., 2004. IGF-I instructs multipotent adult neural progenitor cells to become oligodendrocytes. J. Cell Biol. 164, 111–122.
- Huang, E.J., Reichardt, L.F., 2003. Trk receptors: roles in neuronal signal transduction. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 72, 609–642.
 Huang, L.E., Gu, J., Schau, M., Bunn, H.F., 1998. Regulation of hypoxia-inducible
- Huang, L.E., Gu, J., Schau, M., Bunn, H.F., 1998. Regulation of hypoxia-inducible factor 1alpha is mediated by an O₂-dependent degradation domain via the ubiquitin-proteasome pathway. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 95, 7987–7992.
- Hurley, R.L., Anderson, K.A., Franzone, J.M., Kemp, B.E., Means, A.R., Witters, L.A., 2005. The Ca²⁺/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase kinases are AMP-activated protein kinase kinases. J. Biol. Chem. 280, 29060–29066.
- Hursting, S.D., Perkins, S.N., Phang, J.M., Barrett, J.C., 2001. Diet and cancer prevention studies in p53-deficient mice. J. Nutr. 131, 3092S-3094S.
- Hwang, I.K., Kim, I.Y., Joo, E.J., Shin, J.H., Choi, J.W., Won, M.H., Yoon, Y.S., Seong, J.K., 2010. Metformin normalizes type 2 diabetes-induced decrease in cell proliferation and neuroblast differentiation in the rat dentate gyrus. Neurochem. Res. 35, 645–650.
- Hyun, D.H., Emerson, S.S., Jo, D.G., Mattson, M.P., de Cabo, R., 2006. Calorie restriction up-regulates the plasma membrane redox system in brain cells and suppresses oxidative stress during aging. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 103, 19908–19912.
- Imai, S., Armstrong, C.M., Kaeberlein, M., Guarente, L., 2000. Transcriptional silencing and longevity protein Sir2 is an NAD-dependent histone deacetylase. Nature 403, 795–800.
- Imayoshi, I., Sakamoto, M., Ohtsuka, T., Takao, K., Miyakawa, T., Yamaguchi, M., Mori, K., Ikeda, T., Itohara, S., Kageyama, R., 2008. Roles of continuous neurogenesis in the structural and functional integrity of the adult forebrain. Nat. Neurosci. 11, 1153–1161.
- Inoki, K., Zhu, T., Guan, K.L., 2003. TSC2 mediates cellular energy response to control cell growth and survival. Cell 115, 577–590.
- Ito, H., Nakajima, A., Nomoto, H., Furukawa, S., 2003. Neurotrophins facilitate neuronal differentiation of cultured neural stem cells via induction of mRNA expression of basic helix-loop-helix transcription factors Mash1 and Math1. J. Neurosci. Res. 71, 648–658.
- Ivanova, N.B., Dimos, J.T., Schaniel, C., Hackney, J.A., Moore, K.A., Lemischka, I.R., 2002. A stem cell molecular signature. Science (New York, NY) 298, 601–604.

Iwahara, N., Hisahara, S., Hayashi, T., Horio, Y., 2009. Transcriptional activation of NAD+-dependent protein deacetylase SIRT1 by nuclear receptor TLX. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 386, 671–675.

- Jackson, E.L., Alvarez-Buylla, A., 2008. Characterization of adult neural stem cells and their relation to brain tumors. Cells Tissues Organs 188, 212–224.
- Jackson, E.L., Garcia-Verdugo, J.M., Gil-Perotin, S., Roy, M., Quinones-Hinojosa, A., VandenBerg, S., Alvarez-Buylla, A., 2006. PDGFR alpha-positive B cells are neural stem cells in the adult SVZ that form glioma-like growths in response to increased PDGF signaling. Neuron 51, 187–199.
- Jackson-Guilford, J., Leander, J.D., Nisenbaum, L.K., 2000. The effect of streptozotocin-induced diabetes on cell proliferation in the rat dentate gyrus. Neurosci. Lett. 293, 91–94.
- Jain, S., Maltepe, E., Lu, M.M., Simon, C., Bradfield, C.A., 1998. Expression of ARNT, ARNT2, HIF1 alpha, HIF2 alpha and Ah receptor mRNAs in the developing mouse. Mech. Dev. 73, 117–123.
- Jessberger, S., Toni, N., Clemenson Jr., G.D., Ray, J., Gage, F.H., 2008. Directed differentiation of hippocampal stem/progenitor cells in the adult brain. Nat. Neurosci. 11, 888–893.
- Jiang, B.H., Semenza, G.L., Bauer, C., Marti, H.H., 1996. Hypoxia-inducible factor 1 levels vary exponentially over a physiologically relevant range of O₂ tension. Am. J. Physiol. 271, C1172–C1180.
- Jin, K., Wang, X., Xie, L., Mao, X.O., Zhu, W., Wang, Y., Shen, J., Mao, Y., Banwait, S., Greenberg, D.A., 2006. Evidence for stroke-induced neurogenesis in the human brain. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 103, 13198–13202.
- Jin, L., Hu, X., Feng, L., 2005. NT3 inhibits FGF2-induced neural progenitor cell proliferation via the PI3K/GSK3 pathway. J. Neurochem. 93, 1251–1261.
- Jin, Q., Yan, T., Ge, X., Sun, C., Shi, X., Zhai, Q., 2007. Cytoplasm-localized SIRT1 enhances apoptosis. J. Cell. Physiol. 213, 88–97.
- Jogi, A., Ora, I., Nilsson, H., Lindeheim, A., Makino, Y., Poellinger, L., Axelson, H., Pahlman, S., 2002. Hypoxia alters gene expression in human neuroblastoma cells toward an immature and neural crest-like phenotype. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 99, 7021–7026.
- Johansson, C.B., Svensson, M., Wallstedt, L., Janson, A.M., Frisen, J., 1999. Neural stem cells in the adult human brain. Exp. Cell Res. 253, 733–736.
- Jones, R.G., Plas, D.R., Kubek, S., Buzzai, M., Mu, J., Xu, Y., Birnbaum, M.J., Thompson, C.B., 2005. AMP-activated protein kinase induces a p53-dependent metabolic checkpoint. Mol. Cell 18, 283–293.
- Kaeberlein, M., McVey, M., Guarente, L., 1999. The SIR2/3/4 complex and SIR2 alone promote longevity in Saccharomyces cerevisiae by two different mechanisms. Genes Dev. 13, 2570–2580.
- Kahn, B.B., Alquier, T., Carling, D., Hardie, D.G., 2005. AMP-activated protein kinase: ancient energy gauge provides clues to modern understanding of metabolism. Cell Metab. 1, 15–25.
- Kallio, P.J., Wilson, W.J., O'Brien, S., Makino, Y., Poellinger, L., 1999. Regulation of the hypoxia-inducible transcription factor 1alpha by the ubiquitin-proteasome pathway. J. Biol. Chem. 274, 6519–6525.
- Kalluri, H.S., Vemuganti, R., Dempsey, R.J., 2007. Mechanism of insulin-like growth factor I-mediated proliferation of adult neural progenitor cells: role of Akt. Eur. J. Neurosci. 25, 1041–1048.
- Kanfi, Y., Shalman, R., Peshti, V., Pilosof, S.N., Gozlan, Y.M., Pearson, K.J., Lerrer, B., Moazed, D., Marine, J.C., de Cabo, R., Cohen, H.Y., 2008. Regulation of SIRT6 protein levels by nutrient availability. FEBS Lett. 582, 543–548.
- Karsten, S.L., Kudo, L.C., Jackson, R., Sabatti, C., Kornblum, H.I., Geschwind, D.H., 2003. Global analysis of gene expression in neural progenitors reveals specific cell-cycle, signaling, and metabolic networks. Dev. Biol. 261, 165–182.
- Kawahara, T.L., Michishita, E., Adler, A.S., Damian, M., Berber, E., Lin, M., McCord, R.A., Ongaigui, K.C., Boxer, L.D., Chang, H.Y., Chua, K.F., 2009. SIRT6 links histone H3 lysine 9 deacetylation to NF-kappaB-dependent gene expression and organismal life span. Cell 136, 62–74.
- Kenyon, C., Chang, J., Gensch, E., Rudner, A., Tabtiang, R., 1993. A C. elegans mutant that lives twice as long as wild type. Nature 366, 461–464.
- Kim, H.S., Patel, K., Muldoon-Jacobs, K., Bisht, K.S., Aykin-Burns, N., Pennington, J.D., van der Meer, R., Nguyen, P., Savage, J., Owens, K.M., Vassilopoulos, A., Ozden, O., Park, S.H., Singh, K.K., Abdulkadir, S.A., Spitz, D.R., Deng, C.X., Gius, D., 2010. SIRT3 is a mitochondria-localized tumor suppressor required for maintenance of mitochondrial integrity and metabolism during stress. Cancer Cell 17, 41–52.
- Kippin, T.E., Martens, D.J., van der Kooy, D., 2005. p21 loss compromises the relative quiescence of forebrain stem cell proliferation leading to exhaustion of their proliferation capacity. Genes Dev. 19, 756–767.
- proliferation capacity. Genes Dev. 19, 756–767. Kitamura, T., Saitoh, Y., Takashima, N., Murayama, A., Niibori, Y., Ageta, H., Sekiguchi, M., Sugiyama, H., Inokuchi, K., 2009. Adult neurogenesis modulates the hippocampus-dependent period of associative fear memory. Cell 139, 814–827.
- Kitamura, Y.I., Kitamura, T., Kruse, J.P., Raum, J.C., Stein, R., Gu, W., Accili, D., 2005. FoxO1 protects against pancreatic beta cell failure through NeuroD and MafA induction. Cell Metab. 2, 153–163.
- Kobayashi, Y., Furukawa-Hibi, Y., Chen, C., Horio, Y., Isobe, K., Ikeda, K., Motoyama, N., 2005. SIRT1 is critical regulator of FOXO-mediated transcription in response to oxidative stress. Int. J. Mol. Med. 16, 237–243.
- Kodl, C.T., Seaquist, E.R., 2008. Cognitive dysfunction and diabetes mellitus. Endocr. Rev. 29, 494–511.
- Koo, S.H., Flechner, L., Qi, L., Zhang, X., Screaton, R.A., Jeffries, S., Hedrick, S., Xu, W., Boussouar, F., Brindle, P., Takemori, H., Montminy, M., 2005. The CREB coactivator TORC2 is a key regulator of fasting glucose metabolism. Nature 437, 1109–1111.
- Kops, G.J., de Ruiter, N.D., De Vries-Smits, A.M., Powell, D.R., Bos, J.L., Burgering, B.M., 1999. Direct control of the Forkhead transcription factor AFX by protein kinase B. Nature 398, 630–634.

- Kuhn, H.G., Dickinson-Anson, H., Gage, F.H., 1996. Neurogenesis in the dentate gyrus of the adult rat: age-related decrease of neuronal progenitor proliferation. J. Neurosci. 16, 2027–2033.
- Kukekov, V.G., Laywell, E.D., Suslov, O., Davies, K., Scheffler, B., Thomas, L.B., O'Brien, T.F., Kusakabe, M., Steindler, D.A., 1999. Multipotent stem/progenitor cells with similar properties arise from two neurogenic regions of adult human brain. Exp. Neurol. 156, 333–344.
- Lakowski, B., Hekimi, S., 1998. The genetics of caloric restriction in *Caenorhabditis elegans*. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 95, 13091–13096.
- Land, S.C., Tee, A.R., 2007. Hypoxia-inducible factor 1alpha is regulated by the mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) via an mTOR signaling motif. J. Biol. Chem. 282, 20534–20543.
- Lane, M.A., Ingram, D.K., Roth, G.S., 1999. Calorie restriction in nonhuman primates: effects on diabetes and cardiovascular disease risk. Toxicol. Sci. 52, 41–48.
- Lee, J., Duan, W., Long, J.M., Ingram, D.K., Mattson, M.P., 2000. Dietary restriction increases the number of newly generated neural cells, and induces BDNF expression, in the dentate gyrus of rats. J. Mol. Neurosci. 15, 99–108.
- Lee, J., Duan, W., Mattson, M.P., 2002a. Evidence that brain-derived neurotrophic factor is required for basal neurogenesis and mediates, in part, the enhancement of neurogenesis by dietary restriction in the hippocampus of adult mice. J. Neurochem. 82, 1367–1375.
- Lee, J., Seroogy, K.B., Mattson, M.P., 2002b. Dietary restriction enhances neurotrophin expression and neurogenesis in the hippocampus of adult mice. J. Neurochem. 80, 539–547.
- Lekli, I., Gurusamy, N., Ray, D., Tosaki, A., Das, D.K., 2009. Redox regulation of stem cell mobilization. Can. J. Physiol. Pharmacol. 87, 989–995.
- Lesniak, M.A., Hill, J.M., Kiess, W., Rojeski, M., Pert, C.B., Roth, J., 1988. Receptors for insulin-like growth factors I and II: autoradiographic localization in rat brain and comparison to receptors for insulin. Endocrinology 123, 2089–2099.
- Li, L., Liu, F., Salmonsen, R.A., Turner, T.K., Litofsky, N.S., Di Cristofano, A., Pandolfi, P.P., Jones, S.N., Recht, L.D., Ross, A.H., 2002. PTEN in neural precursor cells: regulation of migration, apoptosis, and proliferation. Mol. Cell. Neurosci. 20, 21– 29.
- Li, W., Zhang, B., Tang, J., Cao, Q., Wu, Y., Wu, C., Guo, J., Ling, E.A., Liang, F., 2007. Sirtuin 2, a mammalian homolog of yeast silent information regulator-2 longevity regulator, is an oligodendroglial protein that decelerates cell differentiation through deacetylating alpha-tubulin. J. Neurosci. 27, 2606–2616.
- Li, Y., Luikart, B.W., Birnbaum, S., Chen, J., Kwon, C.H., Kernie, S.G., Bassel-Duby, R., Parada, L.F., 2008. TrkB regulates hippocampal neurogenesis and governs sensitivity to antidepressive treatment. Neuron 59, 399–412.
- Lie, D.C., Colamarino, S.A., Song, H.J., Desire, L., Mira, H., Consiglio, A., Lein, E.S., Jessberger, S., Lansford, H., Dearie, A.R., Gage, F.H., 2005. Wnt signalling regulates adult hippocampal neurogenesis. Nature 437, 1370–1375.
- Lim, M.S., Nam, S.H., Kim, S.J., Kang, S.Y., Lee, Y.S., Kang, K.S., 2007. Signaling pathways of the early differentiation of neural stem cells by neurotrophin-3. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 357, 903–909.
- Lim, J.H., Lee, Y.M., Chun, Y.S., Chen, J., Kim, J.E., Park, J.W., 2010. Sirtuin 1 modulates cellular responses to hypoxia by deacetylating hypoxia-inducible factor 1alpha. Mol. Cell. 38, 864–878.
- Limoli, C.L., Giedzinski, E., Rola, R., Otsuka, S., Palmer, T.D., Fike, J.R., 2004a. Radiation response of neural precursor cells: linking cellular sensitivity to cell cycle checkpoints, apoptosis and oxidative stress. Radiat. Res. 161, 17–27.
- Limoli, C.L., Rola, R., Giedzinski, E., Mantha, S., Huang, T.T., Fike, J.R., 2004b. Celldensity-dependent regulation of neural precursor cell function. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 101, 16052–16057.
- Lin, D.T., Wu, J., Holstein, D., Upadhyay, G., Rourk, W., Muller, E., Lechleiter, J.D., 2007. Ca²⁺ signaling, mitochondria and sensitivity to oxidative stress in aging astrocytes. Neurobiol. Aging 28, 99–111.
- Lin, H.J., Wang, X., Shaffer, K.M., Sasaki, C.Y., Ma, W., 2004. Characterization of H₂O₂induced acute apoptosis in cultured neural stem/progenitor cells. FEBS Lett. 570, 102–106.
- Lin, S.J., Ford, E., Haigis, M., Liszt, G., Guarente, L., 2004. Calorie restriction extends yeast life span by lowering the level of NADH. Genes Dev. 18, 12–16.
- Lin, T.N., Wang, C.K., Cheung, W.M., Hsu, C.Y., 2000. Induction of angiopoietin and Tie receptor mRNA expression after cerebral ischemia-reperfusion. J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab. 20, 387–395.
- Liszt, G., Ford, E., Kurtev, M., Guarente, L., 2005. Mouse Sir2 homolog SIRT6 is a nuclear ADP-ribosyltransferase. J. Biol. Chem. 280, 21313–21320.
- Liu, J., Solway, K., Messing, R.O., Sharp, F.R., 1998. Increased neurogenesis in the dentate gyrus after transient global ischemia in gerbils. J. Neurosci. 18, 7768– 7778.
- Liu, X.S., Chopp, M., Zhang, R.L., Hozeska-Solgot, A., Gregg, S.C., Buller, B., Lu, M., Zhang, Z.G., 2009. Angiopoietin 2 mediates the differentiation and migration of neural progenitor cells in the subventricular zone after stroke. J. Biol. Chem. 284, 22680–22689.
- Liu, X.S., Zhang, Z.G., Zhang, R.L., Gregg, S., Morris, D.C., Wang, Y., Chopp, M., 2007. Stroke induces gene profile changes associated with neurogenesis and angiogenesis in adult subventricular zone progenitor cells. J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab. 27, 564–574.
- Lizcano, J.M., Goransson, O., Toth, R., Deak, M., Morrice, N.A., Boudeau, J., Hawley, S.A., Udd, L., Makela, T.P., Hardie, D.G., Alessi, D.R., 2004. LKB1 is a master kinase that activates 13 kinases of the AMPK subfamily, including MARK/PAR-1. EMBO J. 23, 833–843.
- Ljungkvist, A.S., Bussink, J., Kaanders, J.H., van der Kogel, A.J., 2007. Dynamics of tumor hypoxia measured with bioreductive hypoxic cell markers. Radiat. Res. 167, 127–145.

- Lledo, P.M., Merkle, F.T., Alvarez-Buylla, A., 2008. Origin and function of olfactory bulb interneuron diversity. Trends Neurosci. 31, 392–400.
- Lloyd-Jones, D., Adams, R., Carnethon, M., De Simone, G., Ferguson, T.B., Flegal, K., Ford, E., Furie, K., Go, A., Greenlund, K., Haase, N., Hailpern, S., Ho, M., Howard, V., Kissela, B., Kittner, S., Lackland, D., Lisabeth, L., Marelli, A., McDermott, M., Meigs, J., Mozaffarian, D., Nichol, G., O'Donnell, C., Roger, V., Rosamond, W., Sacco, R., Sorlie, P., Stafford, R., Steinberger, J., Thom, T., Wasserthiel-Smoller, S., Wong, N., Wylie-Rosett, J., Hong, Y., 2009. Heart disease and stroke statistics— 2009 update: a report from the American Heart Association Statistics Committee and Stroke Statistics Subcommittee. Circulation 119, 480–486.
- Lois, C., Alvarez-Buylla, A., 1994. Long-distance neuronal migration in the adult mammalian brain. Science (New York, NY) 264, 1145–1148.
- Lois, C., Garcia-Verdugo, J.M., Alvarez-Buylla, A., 1996. Chain migration of neuronal precursors. Science (New York, NY) 271, 978–981.
- Lombard, D.B., Alt, F.W., Cheng, H.L., Bunkenborg, J., Streeper, R.S., Mostoslavsky, R., Kim, J., Yancopoulos, G., Valenzuela, D., Murphy, A., Yang, Y., Chen, Y., Hirschey, M.D., Bronson, R.T., Haigis, M., Guarente, L.P., Farese Jr., R.V., Weissman, S., Verdin, E., Schwer, B., 2007. Mammalian Sir2 homolog SIRT3 regulates global mitochondrial lysine acetylation. Mol. Cell. Biol. 27, 8807–8814.
- Lonergan, T., Brenner, C., Bavister, B., 2006. Differentiation-related changes in mitochondrial properties as indicators of stem cell competence. J. Cell. Physiol. 208, 149–153.
- Lu, H., Li, M., Song, T., Qian, Y., Xiao, X., Chen, X., Zhang, P., Feng, X., Parker, T., Liu, Y., 2008. Retrovirus delivered neurotrophin-3 promotes survival, proliferation and neuronal differentiation of human fetal neural stem cells in vitro. Brain Res. Bull. 77, 158–164.
- Lugert, S., Basak, O., Knuckles, P., Haussler, U., Fabel, K., Gotz, M., Haas, C.A., Kempermann, G., Taylor, V., Giachino, C., 2010. Quiescent and active hippocampal neural stem cells with distinct morphologies respond selectively to physiological and pathological stimuli and aging. Cell Stem Cell 6, 445– 456.
- Luo, J., Nikolaev, A.Y., Imai, S., Chen, D., Su, F., Shiloh, A., Guarente, L., Gu, W., 2001. Negative control of p53 by Sir2alpha promotes cell survival under stress. Cell 107, 137–148.
- Luskin, M.B., 1993. Restricted proliferation and migration of postnatally generated neurons derived from the forebrain subventricular zone. Neuron 11, 173–189.
- Macas, J., Nern, C., Plate, K.H., Momma, S., 2006. Increased generation of neuronal progenitors after ischemic injury in the aged adult human forebrain. J. Neurosci. 26, 13114–13119.
- Madhavan, L, Ourednik, V., Ourednik, J., 2006. Increased "vigilance" of antioxidant mechanisms in neural stem cells potentiates their capability to resist oxidative stress. Stem Cells 24, 2110–2119.
- Madhavan, L, Ourednik, V., Ourednik, J., 2008. Neural stem/progenitor cells initiate the formation of cellular networks that provide neuroprotection by growth factor-modulated antioxidant expression. Stem Cells 26, 254–265.
- Magavi, S.S., Leavitt, B.R., Macklis, J.D., 2000. Induction of neurogenesis in the neocortex of adult mice. Nature 405, 951–955.
- Mair, W., Dillin, A., 2008. Aging and survival: the genetics of life span extension by dietary restriction. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 77, 727–754.
- Mak, G.K., Enwere, E.K., Gregg, C., Pakarainen, T., Poutanen, M., Huhtaniemi, I., Weiss, S., 2007. Male pheromone-stimulated neurogenesis in the adult female brain: possible role in mating behavior. Nat. Neurosci. 10, 1003–1011.
- Mandriota, S.J., Pepper, M.S., 1998. Regulation of angiopoietin-2 mRNA levels in bovine microvascular endothelial cells by cytokines and hypoxia. Circ. Res. 83, 852–859.
- Mandriota, S.J., Pyke, C., Di Sanza, C., Quinodoz, P., Pittet, B., Pepper, M.S., 2000. Hypoxia-inducible angiopoietin-2 expression is mimicked by iodonium compounds and occurs in the rat brain and skin in response to systemic hypoxia and tissue ischemia. Am. J. Pathol. 156, 2077–2089.
- Marti-Fabregas, J., Romaguera-Ros, M., Gomez-Pinedo, U., Martinez-Ramirez, S., Jimenez-Xarrie, E., Marin, R., Marti-Vilalta, J.L., Garcia-Verdugo, J.M., 2010. Proliferation in the human ipsilateral subventricular zone after ischemic stroke. Neurology 74, 357–365.
- Martindale, J.L., Holbrook, N.J., 2002. Cellular response to oxidative stress: signaling for suicide and survival. J. Cell. Physiol. 192, 1–15.Maslov, A.Y., Barone, T.A., Plunkett, R.J., Pruitt, S.C., 2004. Neural stem cell detection,
- Maslov, A.Y., Barone, T.A., Plunkett, R.J., Pruitt, S.C., 2004. Neural stem cell detection, characterization, and age-related changes in the subventricular zone of mice. J. Neurosci. 24, 1726–1733.
- Masoro, E.J., McCarter, R.J., Katz, M.S., McMahan, C.A., 1992. Dietary restriction alters characteristics of glucose fuel use. J. Gerontol. 47, B202–B208.
- Mathews, L.S., Hammer, R.E., Behringer, R.R., D'Ercole, A.J., Bell, G.I., Brinster, R.L., Palmiter, R.D., 1988. Growth enhancement of transgenic mice expressing human insulin-like growth factor I. Endocrinology 123, 2827–2833.
- Mattson, M.P., 2000. Emerging neuroprotective strategies for Alzheimer's disease: dietary restriction, telomerase activation, and stem cell therapy. Exp. Gerontol. 35, 489–502.
- Mazumdar, J., Dondeti, V., Simon, M.C., 2009. Hypoxia-inducible factors in stem cells and cancer. J. Cell. Mol. Med. 13, 4319–4328.
- McGraw, T.E., Mittal, V., 2010. Stem cells: metabolism regulates differentiation. Nat. Chem. Biol. 6, 176–177.
- Meletis, K., Wirta, V., Hede, S.M., Nister, M., Lundeberg, J., Frisen, J., 2006. p53 suppresses the self-renewal of adult neural stem cells. Development 133, 363– 369.
- Menn, B., Garcia-Verdugo, J.M., Yaschine, C., Gonzalez-Perez, O., Rowitch, D., Alvarez-Buylla, A., 2006. Origin of oligodendrocytes in the subventricular zone of the adult brain. J. Neurosci. 26, 7907–7918.

- Merkle, F.T., Alvarez-Buylla, A., 2006. Neural stem cells in mammalian development. Curr. Opin. Cell Biol. 18, 704–709.
- Merkle, F.T., Tramontin, A.D., Garcia-Verdugo, J.M., Alvarez-Buylla, A., 2004. Radial glia give rise to adult neural stem cells in the subventricular zone. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 101, 17528–17532.
- Michishita, E., McCord, R.A., Berber, E., Kioi, M., Padilla-Nash, H., Damian, M., Cheung, P., Kusumoto, R., Kawahara, T.L., Barrett, J.C., Chang, H.Y., Bohr, V.A., Ried, T., Gozani, O., Chua, K.F., 2008. SIRT6 is a histone H3 lysine 9 deacetylase that modulates telomeric chromatin. Nature 452, 492–496.
- Michishita, E., McCord, R.A., Boxer, L.D., Barber, M.F., Hong, T., Gozani, O., Chua, K.F., 2009. Cell cycle-dependent deacetylation of telomeric histone H3 lysine K56 by human SIRT6. Cell Cycle 8, 2664–2666.
- Michishita, E., Park, J.Y., Burneskis, J.M., Barrett, J.C., Horikawa, I., 2005. Evolutionarily conserved and nonconserved cellular localizations and functions of human SIRT proteins. Mol. Biol. Cell 16, 4623–4635.
- Milosevic, J., Maisel, M., Wegner, F., Leuchtenberger, J., Wenger, R.H., Gerlach, M., Storch, A., Schwarz, J., 2007. Lack of hypoxia-inducible factor-1 alpha impairs midbrain neural precursor cells involving vascular endothelial growth factor signaling. J. Neurosci. 27, 412–421.
- Milosevic, J., Schwarz, S.C., Krohn, K., Poppe, M., Storch, A., Schwarz, J., 2005. Low atmospheric oxygen avoids maturation, senescence and cell death of murine mesencephalic neural precursors. J. Neurochem. 92, 718–729.
- Molofsky, A.V., He, S., Bydon, M., Morrison, S.J., Pardal, R., 2005. Bmi-1 promotes neural stem cell self-renewal and neural development but not mouse growth and survival by repressing the p16Ink4a and p19Arf senescence pathways. Genes Dev. 19, 1432–1437.
- Molofsky, A.V., Pardal, R., Iwashita, T., Park, I.K., Clarke, M.F., Morrison, S.J., 2003. Bmi-1 dependence distinguishes neural stem cell self-renewal from progenitor proliferation. Nature 425, 962–967.
- Molofsky, A.V., Slutsky, S.G., Joseph, N.M., He, S., Pardal, R., Krishnamurthy, J., Sharpless, N.E., Morrison, S.J., 2006. Increasing p16INK4a expression decreases forebrain progenitors and neurogenesis during ageing. Nature 443, 448–452.
- Momcilovic, M., Hong, S.P., Carlson, M., 2006. Mammalian TAK1 activates Snf1 protein kinase in yeast and phosphorylates AMP-activated protein kinase in vitro. J. Biol. Chem. 281, 25336–25343.
- Morrison, S.J., Csete, M., Groves, A.K., Melega, W., Wold, B., Anderson, D.J., 2000. Culture in reduced levels of oxygen promotes clonogenic sympathoadrenal differentiation by isolated neural crest stem cells. J. Neurosci. 20, 7370–7376.
- Morshead, C.M., Reynolds, B.A., Craig, C.G., McBurney, M.W., Staines, W.A., Morassutti, D., Weiss, S., van der Kooy, D., 1994. Neural stem cells in the adult mammalian forebrain: a relatively quiescent subpopulation of subependymal cells. Neuron 13, 1071–1082.
- Motta, M.C., Divecha, N., Lemieux, M., Kamel, C., Chen, D., Gu, W., Bultsma, Y., McBurney, M., Guarente, L., 2004. Mammalian SIRT1 represses forkhead transcription factors. Cell 116, 551–563.
- Mouret, A., Lepousez, G., Gras, J., Gabellec, M.M., Lledo, P.M., 2009. Turnover of newborn olfactory bulb neurons optimizes olfaction. J. Neurosci. 29, 12302– 12314.
- Murayama, A., Ohmori, K., Fujimura, A., Minami, H., Yasuzawa-Tanaka, K., Kuroda, T., Oie, S., Daitoku, H., Okuwaki, M., Nagata, K., Fukamizu, A., Kimura, K., Shimizu, T., Yanagisawa, J., 2008. Epigenetic control of rDNA loci in response to intracellular energy status. Cell 133, 627–639.
- Nakagawa, T., Lomb, D.J., Haigis, M.C., Guarente, L., 2009. SIRT5 deacetylates carbamoyl phosphate synthetase 1 and regulates the urea cycle. Cell 137, 560–570.
- Nakatomi, H., Kuriu, T., Okabe, S., Yamamoto, S., Hatano, O., Kawahara, N., Tamura, A., Kirino, T., Nakafuku, M., 2002. Regeneration of hippocampal pyramidal neurons after ischemic brain injury by recruitment of endogenous neural progenitors. Cell 110, 429–441.
- Nesti, C., Pasquali, L., Vaglini, F., Siciliano, G., Murri, L., 2007. The role of mitochondria in stem cell biology. Biosci. Rep. 27, 165–171.
- Nguyen, N., Lee, S.B., Lee, Y.S., Lee, K.H., Ahn, J.Y., 2009. Neuroprotection by NGF and BDNF against neurotoxin-exerted apoptotic death in neural stem cells are mediated through Trk receptors, activating PI3-kinase and MAPK pathways. Neurochem. Res. 34, 942–951.
- Noble, M., Mayer-Proschel, M., Proschel, C., 2005. Redox regulation of precursor cell function: insights and paradoxes. Antioxid. Redox Signal. 7, 1456–1467.
- O'Donnell, E., Lynch, M.A., 1998. Dietary antioxidant supplementation reverses agerelated neuronal changes. Neurobiol. Aging 19, 461–467.
- Oberdoerffer, P., Michan, S., McVay, M., Mostoslavsky, R., Vann, J., Park, S.K., Hartlerode, A., Stegmuller, J., Hafner, A., Loerch, P., Wright, S.M., Mills, K.D., Bonni, A., Yankner, B.A., Scully, R., Prolla, T.A., Alt, F.W., Sinclair, D.A., 2008. SIRT1 redistribution on chromatin promotes genomic stability but alters gene expression during aging. Cell 135, 907–918.
- Oh, H., Takagi, H., Suzuma, K., Otani, A., Matsumura, M., Honda, Y., 1999. Hypoxia and vascular endothelial growth factor selectively up-regulate angiopoietin-2 in bovine microvascular endothelial cells. J. Biol. Chem. 274, 15732–15739.
- Ohtsuka, M., Fukumitsu, H., Furukawa, S., 2009. Neurotrophin-3 stimulates neurogenetic proliferation via the extracellular signal-regulated kinase pathway. J. Neurosci. Res. 87, 301–306.
- Pagano, S.F., Impagnatiello, F., Girelli, M., Cova, L., Grioni, E., Onofri, M., Cavallaro, M., Etteri, S., Vitello, F., Giombini, S., Solero, C.L., Parati, E.A., 2000. Isolation and characterization of neural stem cells from the adult human olfactory bulb. Stem Cells 18, 295–300.
- Paik, J.H., Ding, Z., Narurkar, R., Ramkissoon, S., Muller, F., Kamoun, W.S., Chae, S.S., Zheng, H., Ying, H., Mahoney, J., Hiller, D., Jiang, S., Protopopov, A., Wong, W.H.,

Chin, L., Ligon, K.L., DePinho, R.A., 2009. FoxOs cooperatively regulate diverse pathways governing neural stem cell homeostasis. Cell Stem Cell 5, 540–553.

- Paik, J.H., Kollipara, R., Chu, G., Ji, H., Xiao, Y., Ding, Z., Miao, L., Tothova, Z., Horner, J.W., Carrasco, D.R., Jiang, S., Gilliland, D.G., Chin, L., Wong, W.H., Castrillon, D.H., DePinho, R.A., 2007. FoxOs are lineage-restricted redundant tumor suppressors and regulate endothelial cell homeostasis. Cell 128, 309–323.
- Palmer, T.D., Takahashi, J., Gage, F.H., 1997. The adult rat hippocampus contains primordial neural stem cells. Mol. Cell. Neurosci. 8, 389–404.
- Palmer, T.D., Willhoite, A.R., Gage, F.H., 2000. Vascular niche for adult hippocampal neurogenesis. J. Comp. Neurol. 425, 479–494.
- Panchision, D.M., 2009. The role of oxygen in regulating neural stem cells in development and disease. J. Cell. Physiol. 220, 562–568.
- Park, M., Song, K.S., Kim, H.K., Park, Y.J., Kim, H.S., Bae, M.I., Lee, J., 2009. 2-Deoxy-dglucose protects neural progenitor cells against oxidative stress through the activation of AMP-activated protein kinase. Neurosci. Lett. 449, 201–206.
- Peltier, J., O'Neill, A., Schaffer, D.V., 2007. PI3K/Akt and CREB regulate adult neural hippocampal progenitor proliferation and differentiation. Dev. Neurobiol. 67, 1348–1361.
- Penberthy, W.T., Tsunoda, I., 2009. The importance of NAD in multiple sclerosis. Curr. Pharm. Des. 15, 64–99.
- Peterson, D.A., Dickinson-Anson, H.A., Leppert, J.T., Lee, K.F., Gage, F.H., 1999. Central neuronal loss and behavioral impairment in mice lacking neurotrophin receptor p75. J. Comp. Neurol. 404, 1–20.
- Pistollato, F., Chen, H.L., Rood, B.R., Zhang, H.Z., D'Avella, D., Denaro, L., Gardiman, M., te Kronnie, G., Schwartz, P.H., Favaro, E., Indraccolo, S., Basso, G., Panchision, D.M., 2009. Hypoxia and HIF1alpha repress the differentiative effects of BMPs in high-grade glioma. Stem Cells 27, 7–17.
- Pistollato, F., Chen, H.L., Schwartz, P.H., Basso, G., Panchision, D.M., 2007. Oxygen tension controls the expansion of human CNS precursors and the generation of astrocytes and oligodendrocytes. Mol. Cell. Neurosci. 35, 424–435.
- Prozorovski, T., Schulze-Topphoff, U., Glumm, R., Baumgart, J., Schroter, F., Ninnemann, O., Siegert, E., Bendix, I., Brustle, O., Nitsch, R., Zipp, F., Aktas, O., 2008. Sirt1 contributes critically to the redox-dependent fate of neural progenitors. Nat. Cell Biol. 10, 385–394.
- Qu, Q., Sun, G., Li, W., Yang, S., Ye, P., Zhao, C., Yu, R.T., Gage, F.H., Evans, R.M., Shi, Y., 2010. Orphan nuclear receptor TLX activates Wnt/beta-catenin signalling to stimulate neural stem cell proliferation and self-renewal. Nat. Cell Biol. 12, 31– 40 sup. pp. 31–39.
- Quinones-Hinojosa, A., Sanai, N., Soriano-Navarro, M., Gonzalez-Perez, O., Mirzadeh, Z., Gil-Perotin, S., Romero-Rodriguez, R., Berger, M.S., Garcia-Verdugo, J.M., Alvarez-Buylla, A., 2006. Cellular composition and cytoarchitecture of the adult human subventricular zone: a niche of neural stem cells. J. Comp. Neurol. 494, 415–434.
- Ramalho-Santos, M., Yoon, S., Matsuzaki, Y., Mulligan, R.C., Melton, D.A., 2002. "Stemness": transcriptional profiling of embryonic and adult stem cells. Science (New York, NY) 298, 597–600.
- Redila, V.A., Christie, B.R., 2006. Exercise-induced changes in dendritic structure and complexity in the adult hippocampal dentate gyrus. Neuroscience 137, 1299– 1307.
- Reinhardt, R.R., Bondy, C.A., 1994. Insulin-like growth factors cross the blood-brain barrier. Endocrinology 135, 1753–1761.
- Renault, V.M., Rafalski, V.A., Morgan, A.A., Salih, D.A., Brett, J.O., Webb, A.E., Villeda, S.A., Thekkat, P.U., Guillerey, C., Denko, N.C., Palmer, T.D., Butte, A.J., Brunet, A., 2009. FoxO3 regulates neural stem cell homeostasis. Cell Stem Cell 5, 527–539.
- Rine, J., Herskowitz, I., 1987. Four genes responsible for a position effect on expression from HML and HMR in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Genetics 116, 9–22.
- Rogina, B., Helfand, S.L., 2004. Sir2 mediates longevity in the fly through a pathway related to calorie restriction. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 101, 15998–16003.
 Rudman, D., 1985. Growth hormone, body composition, and aging. J. Am. Geriatr.
- Soc. 33, 800–807.
- Rudman, D., Kutner, M.H., Rogers, C.M., Lubin, M.F., Fleming, G.A., Bain, R.P., 1981. Impaired growth hormone secretion in the adult population: relation to age and adiposity. J. Clin. Invest. 67, 1361–1369.
- Salceda, S., Caro, J., 1997. Hypoxia-inducible factor 1alpha (HIF-1alpha) protein is rapidly degraded by the ubiquitin-proteasome system under normoxic conditions. Its stabilization by hypoxia depends on redox-induced changes. J. Biol. Chem. 272, 22642–22647.
- Sanders, M.J., Grondin, P.O., Hegarty, B.D., Snowden, M.A., Carling, D., 2007. Investigating the mechanism for AMP activation of the AMP-activated protein kinase cascade. Biochem. J. 403, 139–148.
- Santarelli, L., Saxe, M., Gross, C., Surget, A., Battaglia, F., Dulawa, S., Weisstaub, N., Lee, J., Duman, R., Arancio, O., Belzung, C., Hen, R., 2003. Requirement of hippocampal neurogenesis for the behavioral effects of antidepressants. Science (New York, NY) 301, 805–809.
- Santilli, G., Lamorte, G., Carlessi, L., Ferrari, D., Rota Nodari, L., Binda, E., Delia, D., Vescovi, A.L., De Filippis, L., 2010. Mild hypoxia enhances proliferation and multipotency of human neural stem cells. PLoS One 5, e8575.
- Saravia, F., Revsin, Y., Lux-Lantos, V., Beauquis, J., Homo-Delarche, F., De Nicola, A.F., 2004. Oestradiol restores cell proliferation in dentate gyrus and subventricular zone of streptozotocin-diabetic mice. J. Neuroendocrinol. 16, 704–710.
- Sarbassov, D.D., Ali, S.M., Sabatini, D.M., 2005a. Growing roles for the mTOR pathway. Curr. Opin. Cell Biol. 17, 596–603.
- Sarbassov, D.D., Guertin, D.A., Ali, S.M., Sabatini, D.M., 2005b. Phosphorylation and regulation of Akt/PKB by the rictor-mTOR complex. Science (New York, NY) 307, 1098–1101.

- Sasaoka, T., Ishiki, M., Sawa, T., Ishihara, H., Takata, Y., Imamura, T., Usui, I., Olefsky, J.M., Kobayashi, M., 1996. Comparison of the insulin and insulin-like growth factor 1 mitogenic intracellular signaling pathways. Endocrinology 137, 4427– 4434.
- Saxe, M.D., Battaglia, F., Wang, J.W., Malleret, G., David, D.J., Monckton, J.E., Garcia, A.D., Sofroniew, M.V., Kandel, E.R., Santarelli, L., Hen, R., Drew, M.R., 2006. Ablation of hippocampal neurogenesis impairs contextual fear conditioning and synaptic plasticity in the dentate gyrus. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 103, 17501–17506.
- Scher, M.B., Vaquero, A., Reinberg, D., 2007. SirT3 is a nuclear NAD+-dependent histone deacetylase that translocates to the mitochondria upon cellular stress. Genes Dev. 21, 920–928.
- Schwartz, M.W., Bergman, R.N., Kahn, S.E., Taborsky Jr., G.J., Fisher, L.D., Sipols, A.J., Woods, S.C., Steil, G.M., Porte Jr., D., 1991. Evidence for entry of plasma insulin into cerebrospinal fluid through an intermediate compartment in dogs. Quantitative aspects and implications for transport. J. Clin. Invest. 88, 1272–1281.
- Scott, P.H., Brunn, G.J., Kohn, A.D., Roth, R.A., Lawrence Jr., J.C., 1998. Evidence of insulin-stimulated phosphorylation and activation of the mammalian target of rapamycin mediated by a protein kinase B signaling pathway. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 95, 7772–7777.
- Semenza, G.L., Roth, P.H., Fang, H.M., Wang, G.L., 1994. Transcriptional regulation of genes encoding glycolytic enzymes by hypoxia-inducible factor 1. J. Biol. Chem. 269, 23757–23763.
- Sharp, F.R., Bernaudin, M., 2004. HIF1 and oxygen sensing in the brain. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 5, 437–448.
- Shaw, R.J., Bardeesy, N., Manning, B.D., Lopez, L., Kosmatka, M., DePinho, R.A., Cantley, L.C., 2004. The LKB1 tumor suppressor negatively regulates mTOR signaling. Cancer Cell 6, 91–99.
- Shen, Q., Wang, Y., Kokovay, E., Lin, G., Chuang, S.M., Goderie, S.K., Roysam, B., Temple, S., 2008. Adult SVZ stem cells lie in a vascular niche: a quantitative analysis of niche cell-cell interactions. Cell Stem Cell 3, 289–300.
- Shen, Y., Inoue, N., Heese, K., 2010. Neurotrophin-4 (ntf4) mediates neurogenesis in mouse embryonic neural stem cells through the inhibition of the signal transducer and activator of transcription-3 (stat3) and the modulation of the activity of protein kinase B. Cell Mol. Neurobiol. 30, 909–916.
- Shetty, A.K., Hattiangady, B., Shetty, G.A., 2005. Stem/progenitor cell proliferation factors FGF-2, IGF-1, and VEGF exhibit early decline during the course of aging in the hippocampus: role of astrocytes. Glia 51, 173–186.
- Shetty, A.K., Turner, D.A., 1998. In vitro survival and differentiation of neurons derived from epidermal growth factor-responsive postnatal hippocampal stem cells: inducing effects of brain-derived neurotrophic factor. J. Neurobiol. 35, 395–425.
- Shi, Y., Chichung Lie, D., Taupin, P., Nakashima, K., Ray, J., Yu, R.T., Gage, F.H., Evans, R.M., 2004. Expression and function of orphan nuclear receptor TLX in adult neural stem cells. Nature 427, 78–83.
- Shimazu, K., Zhao, M., Sakata, K., Akbarian, S., Bates, B., Jaenisch, R., Lu, B., 2006. NT-3 facilitates hippocampal plasticity and learning and memory by regulating neurogenesis. Learn. Mem. 13, 307–315.
- Shors, T.J., Townsend, D.A., Zhao, M., Kozorovitskiy, Y., Gould, E., 2002. Neurogenesis may relate to some but not all types of hippocampal-dependent learning. Hippocampus 12, 578–584.
- Silver, I., Erecinska, M., 1998. Oxygen and ion concentrations in normoxic and hypoxic brain cells. Adv. Exp. Med. Biol. 454, 7–16.
- Singh, S.K., Clarke, I.D., Terasaki, M., Bonn, V.E., Hawkins, C., Squire, J., Dirks, P.B., 2003. Identification of a cancer stem cell in human brain tumors. Cancer Res. 63, 5821–5828.
- Siqueira, I.R., Fochesatto, C., de Andrade, A., Santos, M., Hagen, M., Bello-Klein, A., Netto, C.A., 2005. Total antioxidant capacity is impaired in different structures from aged rat brain. Int. J. Dev. Neurosci. 23, 663–671.
- Smith, J., Ladi, E., Mayer-Proschel, M., Noble, M., 2000. Redox state is a central modulator of the balance between self-renewal and differentiation in a dividing glial precursor cell. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 97, 10032–10037.
- Soeda, A., Park, M., Lee, D., Mintz, A., Androutsellis-Theotokis, A., McKay, R.D., Engh, J., Iwama, T., Kunisada, T., Kassam, A.B., Pollack, I.F., Park, D.M., 2009. Hypoxia promotes expansion of the CD133-positive glioma stem cells through activation of HIF-1alpha. Oncogene 28, 3949–3959.
- Steinberg, G.R., Kemp, B.E., 2009. AMPK in health and disease. Physiol. Rev. 89, 1025–1078.
- Storch, A., Paul, G., Csete, M., Boehm, B.O., Carvey, P.M., Kupsch, A., Schwarz, J., 2001. Long-term proliferation and dopaminergic differentiation of human mesencephalic neural precursor cells. Exp. Neurol. 170, 317–325.
- Stranahan, A.M., Arumugam, T.V., Cutler, R.G., Lee, K., Egan, J.M., Mattson, M.P., 2008a. Diabetes impairs hippocampal function through glucocorticoidmediated effects on new and mature neurons. Nat. Neurosci. 11, 309– 317.
- Stranahan, A.M., Norman, E.D., Lee, K., Cutler, R.G., Telljohann, R.S., Egan, J.M., Mattson, M.P., 2008b. Diet-induced insulin resistance impairs hippocampal synaptic plasticity and cognition in middle-aged rats. Hippocampus 18, 1085– 1088.
- Studer, L., Csete, M., Lee, S.H., Kabbani, N., Walikonis, J., Wold, B., McKay, R., 2000. Enhanced proliferation, survival, and dopaminergic differentiation of CNS precursors in lowered oxygen. J. Neurosci. 20, 7377–7383.
- Suh, H., Consiglio, A., Ray, J., Sawai, T., D'Amour, K.A., Gage, F.H., 2007. In vivo fate analysis reveals the multipotent and self-renewal capacities of Sox²⁺ neural stem cells in the adult hippocampus. Cell Stem Cell 1, 515–528.

- Suh, S.W., Fan, Y., Hong, S.M., Liu, Z., Matsumori, Y., Weinstein, P.R., Swanson, R.A., Liu, J., 2005. Hypoglycemia induces transient neurogenesis and subsequent progenitor cell loss in the rat hippocampus. Diabetes 54, 500–509.
- Sun, G., Yu, R.T., Evans, R.M., Shi, Y., 2007. Orphan nuclear receptor TLX recruits histone deacetylases to repress transcription and regulate neural stem cell proliferation. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 104, 15282–15287.
- Takahashi, J., Palmer, T.D., Gage, F.H., 1999. Retinoic acid and neurotrophins collaborate to regulate neurogenesis in adult-derived neural stem cell cultures. J. Neurobiol. 38, 65–81.
- Tanner, K.G., Landry, J., Sternglanz, R., Denu, J.M., 2000. Silent information regulator 2 family of NAD-dependent histone/protein deacetylases generates a unique product, 1-O-acetyl-ADP-ribose. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 97, 14178–14182.
- Tanny, J.C., Moazed, D., 2001. Coupling of histone deacetylation to NAD breakdown by the yeast silencing protein Sir2: evidence for acetyl transfer from substrate to an NAD breakdown product. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 98, 415–420.
- Tatar, M., Kopelman, A., Epstein, D., Tu, M.P., Yin, C.M., Garofalo, R.S., 2001. A mutant Drosophila insulin receptor homolog that extends life-span and impairs neuroendocrine function. Science (New York, NY) 292, 107–110.
- Tavazoie, M., Van der Veken, L., Silva-Vargas, V., Louissaint, M., Colonna, L., Zaidi, B., Garcia-Verdugo, J.M., Doetsch, F., 2008. A specialized vascular niche for adult neural stem cells. Cell Stem Cell 3, 279–288.
- Tazuke, S.I., Mazure, N.M., Sugawara, J., Carland, G., Faessen, G.H., Suen, L.F., Irwin, J.C., Powell, D.R., Giaccia, A.J., Giudice, L.C., 1998. Hypoxia stimulates insulinlike growth factor binding protein 1 (IGFBP-1) gene expression in HepG2 cells: a possible model for IGFBP-1 expression in fetal hypoxia. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 95, 10188–10193.
- Thissen, J.P., Ketelslegers, J.M., Underwood, L.E., 1994. Nutritional regulation of the insulin-like growth factors. Endocr. Rev. 15, 80–101.
- Tissenbaum, H.A., Guarente, L., 2001. Increased dosage of a sir-2 gene extends lifespan in *Caenorhabditis elegans*. Nature 410, 227–230.
- Tomita, S., Ueno, M., Sakamoto, M., Kitahama, Y., Ueki, M., Maekawa, N., Sakamoto, H., Gassmann, M., Kageyama, R., Ueda, N., Gonzalez, F.J., Takahama, Y., 2003. Defective brain development in mice lacking the Hif-1alpha gene in neural cells. Mol. Cell. Biol. 23, 6739–6749.
- Tothova, Z., Kollipara, R., Huntly, B.J., Lee, B.H., Castrillon, D.H., Cullen, D.E., McDowell, E.P., Lazo-Kallanian, S., Williams, I.R., Sears, C., Armstrong, S.A., Passegue, E., DePinho, R.A., Gilliand, D.G., 2007. FoxOs are critical mediators of hematopoietic stem cell resistance to physiologic oxidative stress. Cell 128, 325–339. Trejo, J.L., Carro, E., Torres-Aleman, I., 2001. Circulating insulin-like growth factor 1
- Trejo, J.L., Carro, E., Torres-Aleman, I., 2001. Circulating insulin-like growth factor I mediates exercise-induced increases in the number of new neurons in the adult hippocampus. J. Neurosci. 21, 1628–1634.
- van der Heide, L.P., Jacobs, F.M., Burbach, J.P., Hoekman, M.F., Smidt, M.P., 2005. FoxO6 transcriptional activity is regulated by Thr26 and Ser184, independent of nucleo-cytoplasmic shuttling. Biochem. J. 391, 623–629.
- van der Horst, A., Tertoolen, L.G., de Vries-Smits, L.M., Frye, R.A., Medema, R.H., Burgering, B.M., 2004. FOXO4 is acetylated upon peroxide stress and deacetylated by the longevity protein hSir2(SIRT1). J. Biol. Chem. 279, 28873–28879.
- van Praag, H., 2008. Neurogenesis and exercise: past and future directions. Neuromol. Med. 10, 128–140.
- van Praag, H., Christie, B.R., Sejnowski, T.J., Gage, F.H., 1999a. Running enhances neurogenesis, learning, and long-term potentiation in mice. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 96, 13427–13431.
- van Praag, H., Kempermann, G., Gage, F.H., 1999b. Running increases cell proliferation and neurogenesis in the adult mouse dentate gyrus. Nat. Neurosci. 2, 266– 270.
- van Praag, H., Schinder, A.F., Christie, B.R., Toni, N., Palmer, T.D., Gage, F.H., 2002. Functional neurogenesis in the adult hippocampus. Nature 415, 1030–1034.
- Vaquero, A., Reinberg, D., 2009. Calorie restriction and the exercise of chromatin. Genes Dev. 23, 1849–1869.
- Vaquero, A., Scher, M., Lee, D., Erdjument-Bromage, H., Tempst, P., Reinberg, D., 2004. Human SirT1 interacts with histone H1 and promotes formation of facultative heterochromatin. Mol. Cell 16, 93–105.
- Vazey, E.M., Chen, K., Hughes, S.M., Connor, B., 2006. Transplanted adult neural progenitor cells survive, differentiate and reduce motor function impairment in a rodent model of Huntington's disease. Exp. Neurol. 199, 384–396.
- Vaziri, H., Dessain, S.K., Ng Eaton, E., Imai, S.I., Frye, R.A., Pandita, T.K., Guarente, L., Weinberg, R.A., 2001. hSIR2(SIRT1) functions as an NAD-dependent p53 deacetylase. Cell 107, 149–159.
- Verdi, J.M., Birren, S.J., Ibanez, C.F., Persson, H., Kaplan, D.R., Benedetti, M., Chao, M.V., Anderson, D.J., 1994. p75LNGFR regulates Trk signal transduction and NGF-induced neuronal differentiation in MAH cells. Neuron 12, 733–745.
- Vescovi, A.L., Galli, R., Reynolds, B.A., 2006. Brain tumour stem cells. Nat. Rev. Cancer 6, 425–436.
- Vollgraf, U., Wegner, M., Richter-Landsberg, C., 1999. Activation of AP-1 and nuclear factor-kappaB transcription factors is involved in hydrogen peroxide-induced apoptotic cell death of oligodendrocytes. J. Neurochem. 73, 2501–2509.
- Wang, D.D., Bordey, A., 2008. The astrocyte odyssey. Prog. Neurobiol. 86, 342–367. Wang, F., Nguyen, M., Qin, F.X., Tong, Q., 2007. SIRT2 deacetylates FOXO3a in
- response to oxidative stress and caloric restriction. Aging Cell 6, 505-514.

- Wang, F., Tong, Q., 2009. SIRT2 suppresses adipocyte differentiation by deacetylating FOXO1 and enhancing FOXO1's repressive interaction with PPARgamma. Mol. Biol. Cell 20, 801–808.
- Wang, G.L., Jiang, B.H., Rue, E.A., Semenza, G.L., 1995. Hypoxia-inducible factor 1 is a basic-helix-loop-helix-PAS heterodimer regulated by cellular O₂ tension. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 92, 5510–5514.
- Weindruch, R., Walford, R.L., 1982. Dietary restriction in mice beginning at 1 year of age: effect on life-span and spontaneous cancer incidence. Science (New York, NY) 215, 1415–1418.
- Weindruch, R., Walford, R.L., 1988. The Retardation of Aging and Disease by Dietary Restriction. CC Thomas, Springfield, IL.
- Winder, W.W., Hardie, D.G., 1996. Inactivation of acetyl-CoA carboxylase and activation of AMP-activated protein kinase in muscle during exercise. Am. J. Physiol. 270, E299–E304.
- Woods, A., Dickerson, K., Heath, R., Hong, S.P., Momcilovic, M., Johnstone, S.R., Carlson, M., Carling, D., 2005. Ca²⁺/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase kinase-beta acts upstream of AMP-activated protein kinase in mammalian cells. Cell Metab. 2, 21–33.
- Wright, J.W., Alt, J.A., Turner, G.D., Krueger, J.M., 2004. Differences in spatial learning comparing transgenic p75 knockout, New Zealand Black, C57BL/6, and Swiss Webster mice. Behav. Brain Res. 153, 453–458.
- Wu, A., Ying, Z., Gomez-Pinilla, F., 2006. Oxidative stress modulates Sir2alpha in rat hippocampus and cerebral cortex. Eur. J. Neurosci. 23, 2573–2580.
- Yagita, Y., Kitagawa, K., Ohtsuki, T., Takasawa, K., Miyata, T., Okano, H., Hori, M., Matsumoto, M., 2001. Neurogenesis by progenitor cells in the ischemic adult rat hippocampus. Stroke 32, 1890–1896.
- Yan, Y.P., Sailor, K.A., Vemuganti, R., Dempsey, R.J., 2006. Insulin-like growth factor-1 is an endogenous mediator of focal ischemia-induced neural progenitor proliferation. Eur. J. Neurosci. 24, 45–54.
- Yang, B., Zwaans, B.M., Eckersdorff, M., Lombard, D.B., 2009. The sirtuin SIRT6 deacetylates H3 K56Ac in vivo to promote genomic stability. Cell Cycle 8, 2662– 2663.
- Yang, Y., Hou, H., Haller, E.M., Nicosia, S.V., Bai, W., 2005. Suppression of FOXO1 activity by FHL2 through SIRT1-mediated deacetylation. EMBO J. 24, 1021– 1032.
- Ye, P., Carson, J., D'Ercole, A.J., 1995. In vivo actions of insulin-like growth factor-I (IGF-I) on brain myelination: studies of IGF-I and IGF binding protein-1 (IGFBP-1) transgenic mice. J. Neurosci. 15, 7344–7356.
- Yin, Y., Terauchi, Y., Solomon, G.G., Aizawa, S., Rangarajan, P.N., Yazaki, Y., Kadowaki, T., Barrett, J.C., 1998. Involvement of p85 in p53-dependent apoptotic response to oxidative stress. Nature 391, 707–710.
- Young, K.M., Merson, T.D., Sotthibundhu, A., Coulson, E.J., Bartlett, P.F., 2007. p75 neurotrophin receptor expression defines a population of BDNF-responsive neurogenic precursor cells. J. Neurosci. 27, 5146–5155.
- Yu, J.M., Kim, J.H., Song, G.S., Jung, J.S., 2006. Increase in proliferation and differentiation of neural progenitor cells isolated from postnatal and adult mice brain by Wnt-3a and Wnt-5a. Mol. Cell. Biochem. 288, 17–28.
- Yu, S.W., Baek, S.H., Brennan, R.T., Bradley, C.J., Park, S.K., Lee, Y.S., Jun, E.J., Lookingland, K.J., Kim, E.K., Lee, H., Goudreau, J.L., Kim, S.W., 2008. Autophagic death of adult hippocampal neural stem cells following insulin withdrawal. Stem Cells 26, 2602–2610.
- Zang, Y., Yu, L.F., Nan, F.J., Feng, L.Y., Li, J., 2009. AMP-activated protein kinase is involved in neural stem cell growth suppression and cell cycle arrest by 5aminoimidazole-4-carboxamide-1-beta-p-ribofuranoside and glucose deprivation by down-regulating phospho-retinoblastoma protein and cyclin D. J. Biol. Chem. 284, 6175–6184.
- Zhang, C.L., Zou, Y., He, W., Gage, F.H., Evans, R.M., 2008. A role for adult TLX-positive neural stem cells in learning and behaviour. Nature 451, 1004–1007.
- Zhang, J., Grindley, J.C., Yin, T., Jayasinghe, S., He, X.C., Ross, J.T., Haug, J.S., Rupp, D., Porter-Westpfahl, K.S., Wiedemann, L.M., Wu, H., Li, L., 2006. PTEN maintains haematopoietic stem cells and acts in lineage choice and leukaemia prevention. Nature 441, 518–522.
- Zhang, W.J., Tan, Y.F., Yue, J.T., Vranic, M., Wojtowicz, J.M., 2008. Impairment of hippocampal neurogenesis in streptozotocin-treated diabetic rats. Acta Neurol. Scand. 117, 205–210.
- Zhao, C., Deng, W., Gage, F.H., 2008. Mechanisms and functional implications of adult neurogenesis. Cell 132, 645–660.
- Zhao, C., Teng, E.M., Summers Jr., R.G., Ming, G.L., Gage, F.H., 2006. Distinct morphological stages of dentate granule neuron maturation in the adult mouse hippocampus. J. Neurosci. 26, 3–11.
- Zhou, G., Myers, R., Li, Y., Chen, Y., Shen, X., Fenyk-Melody, J., Wu, M., Ventre, J., Doebber, T., Fujii, N., Musi, N., Hirshman, M.F., Goodyear, L.J., Moller, D.E., 2001. Role of AMP-activated protein kinase in mechanism of metformin action. J. Clin. Invest. 108, 1167–1174.
- Zhu, L.L., Wu, L.Y., Yew, D.T., Fan, M., 2005. Effects of hypoxia on the proliferation and differentiation of NSCs. Mol. Neurobiol. 31, 231–242.
- Zhu, S.Q., Kum, W., Ho, S.K., Young, J.D., Cockram, C.S., 1990. Structure-function relationships of insulin receptor interactions in cultured mouse astrocytes. Brain Res. 529, 329–332.